
 

 
 

 
 

 
Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  Fax: (01684) 272040 

Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk 

26 February 2019 
 

Committee Executive 

Date Wednesday, 6 March 2019 

Time of Meeting 2:00 pm 

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, 
Severn Room 

 

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND 

 

Agenda 

 

1.  ANNOUNCEMENTS  
   
 When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by 

the nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to 
the visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further 
instructions (during office hours staff should proceed to their usual 
assembly point; outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). 
Please do not re-enter the building unless instructed to do so.  
 
In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in 
leaving the building.  

 

   
2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
   
 To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.   
   
3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
   
 Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare 
any interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to 
which the approved Code applies. 

 

   

mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk


 Item Page(s) 

 

 2 

4.  MINUTES 1 - 8 
   
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2019.   
   
5.  ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
   
 To receive any questions, deputations or petitions submitted under Rule 

of Procedure 12.  
 
(The deadline for public participation submissions for this meeting is                  
28 February 2019).  

 

   
6.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 9 - 16 
   
 To consider the Committee’s Forward Plan.    
   
7.  COUNCIL PLAN YEAR 4 (2016-20) 17 - 34 
   
 To consider the Council Plan and make a recommendation to Council 

for adoption.   
 

   
8.  DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF POLICY 35 - 50 
   
 To adopt the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy.    
   
9.  GRASS CUTTING IMPROVEMENT PLAN 51 - 72 
   
  To consider the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee.  
 

   
10.  DEVELOPMENT OF A STRATEGIC PLANNING FRAMEWORK FOR 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY TO 2050 AND BEYOND 
73 - 79 

   
 To recommend to Council that it agrees to work in partnership with the 

five other local planning authorities, Gloucestershire County Council and 
the GFirst LEP to develop a broad Strategic Planning Framework for 
Gloucestershire, to 2050 and beyond, via the preparation of a 
‘Statement of Common Ground’. 

 

   
11.  BOROUGH GROWTH RESERVE 80 - 85 
   
 To support the establishment of a new Borough Growth reserve, 

including funding for that reserve, to help facilitate and support the 
growth in the Joint Core Strategy and accelerate development in line 
with the trajectory. 

 

   
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, 3 APRIL 2019 

COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE 

Councillors: K J Berry, R A Bird (Chair), G F Blackwell, M Dean, R Furolo, M A Gore, J Greening, 
E J MacTiernan and J R Mason (Vice-Chair) 

  

 
 
 



 Item Page(s) 

 

 3 

 
 
 
Substitution Arrangements  
 
The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the 
beginning of the meeting. 
 
Recording of Meetings  
 
In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chairman will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.  
 
Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting will 
not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.  



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Executive Committee held at the Council Offices, 

Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Wednesday, 6 February 2019 commencing at 
2:00 pm 

 

 
Present: 

 
Chair Councillor R A Bird 
Vice Chair Councillor J R Mason 

 
and Councillors: 

 
K J Berry, G F Blackwell, M Dean, R Furolo, M A Gore, J Greening and E J MacTiernan 

 
also present: 

 
Councillor R E Allen 

 

EX.66 ANNOUNCEMENTS  

66.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was taken as read.  

66.2 The Chair welcomed Councillor R E Allen to the meeting who was in attendance as 
an observer.  

EX.67 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

67.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from               
1 July 2012.  

67.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion.  

EX.68 MINUTES  

68.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 2019, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.   

EX.69 ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

69.1 There were no items from members of the public on this occasion.   

EX.70 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN  

70.1 Attention was drawn to the Committee’s Forward Plan, circulated at Pages No. 9-
11. Members were asked to consider the Plan.    

70.2 A Member questioned when the Spring Gardens/Oldbury Road item would be 
ready for consideration. In response, the Head of Finance and Asset Management 
explained that the team was currently targeting the July meetings of Executive 
Committee and Council.  

1

Agenda Item 4



EX.06.02.19 

70.3 Accordingly, it was  

 
RESOLVED: That the Committee’s Forward Plan be NOTED.   

EX.71 FINANCIAL UPDATE - QUARTER THREE 2018/19  

71.1 The report of the Head of Finance and Asset Management, circulated at Pages No. 
12-21, provided the financial performance information for the third quarter of 
2018/19 which Members were asked to consider. 

71.2 The Head of Finance and Asset Management explained that the report highlighted 
a quarter three surplus of £664,478 on the revenue budget as well as detailing the 
expenditure to date against both the capital programme and approved reserves. 
The summary of the expenditure position for the Council, split out between the 
main expenditure types, was shown at Paragraph 2.2 of the report. The budget 
position in relation to the Heads of Service responsibility showed a budget surplus 
of £311,964 as at the end of December. The majority of the savings (£337,960) 
related to employee costs, mainly through staff vacancies. In addition, there were a 
range of smaller savings being made across the headings of ‘premises’ and 
‘transport and supplies’ which were also contributing to the overall surplus 
reported. The surplus on income was £127,444 much of which was from 
Community Services, mainly in relation to the garden waste service which had 
seen income above target due to the changes made in respect of the new sticker 
system and the fixed renewal date of 1 April. There was also additional income 
shown in Corporate Services which related to grant income for the Benefits Team 
from central government which had not been budgeted for. The positive income 
position was being offset by planning application income which was below the 
expected target and, although a surplus had been returned in quarter three, there 
remained a deficit against the target. In terms of the corporate codes, these were 
generally doing well apart from the deficit noted on the ‘corporate savings target’ 
heading which related to the expected savings in employee costs throughout the 
year; however, given the surplus on the employees line, that had more than been 
met.  

71.3 In respect of the deficits being reported, the most significant related to the Ubico 
contract which had a projected overspend of £230,887 – this was a significant 
increase from the £141,622 position which had been reported in quarter two. It was 
hoped the projected deficit would be smaller when the final position was reported. 
The reasons for the overspend were reported by Ubico as being increased 
employee costs of £89,818, mostly for the use of agency staff to cover increasing 
numbers of long-term sickness; and transport costs of £99,620 of which the 
majority related to the maintenance of the recycling and grounds maintenance 
equipment and vehicles with increased fuel costs across all service areas; and an 
overspend on tyres of £59,000. In addition, there was an increased cost associated 
with the grounds maintenance service as a result of the difficulties encountered at 
the start of the grass cutting season in 2018. The projected full-year overspend of 
£230,887 was being met by the surplus generated in other service areas and 
corporate activities, and Officers were working with Ubico to understand its 
accounting procedure and how overspends were approved etc.  

71.4 Appendix B to the report set out the capital budget position and Appendix C 
showed the current usage of available reserves. In terms of capital, there was an 
underspend against the profiled budget the main reason for which was that the 
commercial property investment to date had been less than the profiled budget 
expectation. It was unlikely that it would be spent in the current financial year and 
so would be rolled over into 2019/20 as the Council continued to look for 
investment opportunities. In addition, the refurbishment of the Council Offices was 

2



EX.06.02.19 

almost complete and was showing an overspend against the agreed budget. The 
overall costs had increased due to issues such as the discovery of asbestos but 
contributions from partners and revenue resources were being used to offset any 
additional cost. In addition, the allocation between revenue and capital resources 
would take place at year-end and would reduce the cost currently shown on the 
capital programme. Reserves were set aside from previous years to fund known 
future costs and the strategic planning of the authority’s operation. Whilst the 
quarter three position showed a significant balance remained on reserves, the 
expectation was that the balances would be spent in future. The finance team had 
asked for updates from all departments about their plans to ensure earmarked 
reserves were either used for their intended purpose or released back to the 
general fund.  

71.5 Members expressed particular concerns about the Ubico overspend and the 
responsibility it took for those. In response, the Head of Finance and Asset 
Management explained that the income from the garden waste service was kept 
separate from the Ubico contract but some/all of it could be used to offset the 
Ubico overspend if necessary. One of the elements that the finance team was 
looking at was Ubico’s authorisation process for overspends and how they were 
managed. It was understood that some elements were out of Ubico’s control i.e. 
the grass cutting issues at the start of 2018 and diesel prices; however, there was 
certainly a need to look at the elements that were within its control. He confirmed 
that each of the partner authorities within Ubico were billed in the same way and 
many were also reporting overspends. It was felt that Ubico needed to undertake 
its own authorisations in order that it could run its business efficiently and 
effectively; however, there were areas of the process which Tewkesbury Borough 
Council needed to be part of, such as agreeing overspends. Officers were currently 
establishing the facts in respect of the chain of decision-making as quarterly 
reports should certainly not come as a surprise to the Council. How faults were 
rectified would be dependent on their nature and this would be established through 
the investigatory process which was currently underway. Members were surprised 
to hear about an overspend on tyres and questioned how this could happen. In 
response, the Head of Finance and Asset Management explained that he was 
unaware of the reason for the overspend but it was likely to be damage to tyres. 
The Lead Member for Clean and Green Environment explained that this was not 
necessarily due to pot holes in the roads, or the state of the access road to the tip, 
it could be happening when the vehicles were driving over the actual site. When 
the vehicles were delivering to the energy from waste plant this issue should be 
much improved.  

71.6 A Member advised that Brockworth Parish Council had recently asked Ubico to 
quote for some grass cutting work and had been surprised that it was not 
interested in the work. The Head of Finance and Asset Management undertook to 
investigate the reasons for that response as it would be disappointing if Ubico was 
not promoting commercialisation to the fullest extent.  

71.7 Accordingly, it was  

 
RESOLVED: That the financial performance information for the third 

quarter of 2018/19 be NOTED.   

3



EX.06.02.19 

 

EX.72 BUDGET 2019/20  

72.1 The report of the Head of Finance and Asset Management, circulated at Pages No. 
22-36, set out the proposed budget for 2019/20. Members were asked to 
recommend the budget to Council for approval along with a Band D Council Tax of 
£119.36; the use of New Homes Bonus as proposed at Paragraph 3.5 of the 
report; and the capital programme as proposed in Appendix A to the report.  

72.2 The Head of Finance and Asset Management advised that the Council had 
considered its financial position, as shown in the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
at its meeting on 16 January 2019. That Strategy had outlined the budget 
pressures facing the Council currently, and in future years, and explained that the 
deficit over the next five years was estimated to be around £3.5 million with a gap 
of £691,000 suggested for 2019/20. The report currently before Members brought 
together the general information on the financial climate with the detailed figures 
associated with the 2019/20 budget, and the work undertaken by the Transform 
Working Group, and made a proposal for a balanced budget and resultant Council 
Tax. In setting the budget for 2019/20, the same level of service as in previous 
years had been assumed; however, future budget-setting may not find increased 
income and financing streams as plentiful, so it was likely that the Council would 
be faced with some tough decisions on its operation over forthcoming years, 
including reducing or stopping some services and taking further risks on its 
commercial activities.  

72.3 A Member suggested that current vacancies in One Legal meant costs would have 
to increase in the next year to enable it to employ the staff necessary to cover 
additional income-earning work and she questioned how this would be addressed. 
In response, the Head of Finance and Asset Management explained that 
employees had seen a substantial underspend this year. One Legal would be 
asking for reserves from those underspends to offset savings it could not make 
due to vacancies and it was felt an equalisation reserve would need to be set up. It 
was agreed by Members that, whilst it was great to have savings in employee 
costs, the downside was a decrease in performance if there were not enough staff 
to deliver the services.  

72.4 Accordingly, it was  

 
RESOLVED: That it be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL that:  

1. a net budget of £8,772,830 be APPROVED;  

2. a Band D Council Tax of £119.36, an increase of 
£5.00 per annum, be APPROVED;  

3. the use of New Homes Bonus, as proposed in 
Paragraph 3.5 of the report, be AGREED; and  

4. the capital programme, as proposed in Appendix A to 
the report, be AGREED.  

EX.73 COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS 2019/20  

73.1 The report of the Head of Corporate Services, circulated at Pages No. 37-40, 
provided Members with an update on proposed Council Tax discounts effective 
from 1 April 2019 and sought approval for their recommendation to Council.   

73.2 Members were advised that local Council Tax discounts should be reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure they continued to meet the requirements of legislation; 
there were also financial implications as they impacted directly on the Council’s 

4



EX.06.02.19 

income from Council Tax. The current proposal was to leave the discounts at their 
existing level for 2019/20 but with the intention to review them early in 2019/20, 
alongside the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, and bring forward proposals on all. 
In respect of empty homes, there were currently 43 properties within the Borough 
that had been unoccupied and unfurnished for over two years and those were 
currently subject to a 50% long-term empty homes premium. The government had 
introduced the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax Empty 
Dwellings Act 2018 on 1 November 2018 which allowed billing authorities, from 1 
April 2019, to apply a premium of up to an additional 100% of the Council Tax due 
where a dwelling had been empty for at least two years; from 1 April 2020, to apply 
a premium of up to an additional 200% of the Council Tax due where the dwelling 
had been empty for five years and over; and, from 1 April 2021, to apply a 
premium of an additional 300%  where the dwelling had been empty for 10 years 
and over. As the current long-term empty properties premium had only been in 
place since 1 April 2018, it was recommended that the same level of premium 
continue for 2019/20 and that the amount levied in the future be reviewed as part 
of the general review of discounts prior to the 2020/21 budget-setting process.  

73.3 A Member expressed the view that the empty property surcharge should be 
amended in line with the amount allowed by the government. Other Members 
agreed with that view considering that, not only would it be revenue to the Council, 
but would also encourage empty properties back into use. Alternative views 
expressed indicated that any amendments to the scheme should be made via the 
Transform Working Group following thorough consideration. Another Member 
questioned whether there also needed to be consideration given to implementing a 
premium for second homes. In response, the Revenues and Benefits Manager 
explained that, to be a second home, the house had to be furnished and the new 
rules only provided the ability to charge the premium for unfurnished properties. 
During the discussion which ensued, it was understood that there were different 
reasons for properties remaining empty and unfurnished some of which were 
outside of the owner’s control; however, there was a housing shortage which could 
be partially addressed by bringing empty properties back into use. There was 
some concern expressed that research needed to be undertaken to understand the 
reasons for the properties being empty; whether it was likely they would be brought 
back into use; and to give owners an appropriate amount of notice about the 
Council Tax increase. In terms of the number of empty properties that were 
awaiting the finalisation of probate, the Revenues and Benefits Manager indicated 
that she could advise Members of that information following the meeting.  

73.4 It was proposed and seconded that an empty homes premium of an additional 
100% be levied on properties that remained unoccupied and substantially 
unfurnished for more than two years. Upon being put to the vote the amendment 
was carried and, accordingly, it was  

 
RESOLVED: That it be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL that the following 

discounts be effective from 1 April 2019:  

 the Council Tax discount for unoccupied furnished 
properties (second homes) is zero;  

 the discount for unoccupied and substantially 
unfurnished properties is 100% for a period of one 
month then 25% for the following five months;  

 the discount for dwellings which are vacant and 
undergoing major repair work to render them habitable 
will be 25% for a maximum period of 12 months; and  

 

5



EX.06.02.19 

 an empty homes premium of an additional 100% is 
levied on properties that have remained unoccupied 
and substantially unfurnished for more than two years.  

EX.74 COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT FOR CARE LEAVERS  

74.1 The report of the Head of Corporate Services, circulated at Pages No. 41-48, 
proposed that a class be determined for Gloucestershire care leavers between the 
ages of 18 and 21 years who were residing in the Tewkesbury Borough Council 
area; recommended the adoption of the Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care 
Leavers to be effective from 1 April 2019; and  delegated authority to the Head of 
Corporate Services to apply the discount for care leavers, with any dispute being 
subject to an internal reconsideration by the Deputy Chief Executive.  

74.2 Members were advised that Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 gave the Council discretionary powers to reduce the amount of Council Tax 
payable for individual cases, or by class, and that included reduction of the amount 
payable to zero. In addition, the government had made recommendations within its 
Care Leavers’ Strategy that local authorities should consider exempting care 
leavers from Council Tax using those discretionary powers. Care leavers were 
considered to be a particularly vulnerable group for Council Tax debt as moving to 
independent accommodation and managing finances for the first time was 
challenging. To that end, the six District Councils and Gloucestershire County 
Council had been working together to provide a common Council Tax Discount 
Scheme for Care Leavers which provided a consistent approach across the 
County.  

74.3 It was noted that any discount awarded using the discretionary power must be 
funded by the billing authority; however, with the agreement of the County Council, 
it would fund its share of the cost of any care leaver discounts awarded. The latest 
information suggested there were eight care leavers who would be eligible for the 
discount and the proposal was that the discount for care leavers should be 100% 
where they lived alone and 50% where they lived with others. In response to a 
query, the Revenues and Benefits Manager explained that, where the care leaver 
was ‘living with others’, the scenario envisaged was a house share rather than a 
family environment. Another Member questioned why Tewkesbury Borough 
Council would be picking up the bill for Parishes and the Police. In response, the 
Chief Executive confirmed that the statutory duty to put together a package for 
care leavers lay with the billing authority. In addition, the amount it would cost 
would be minimal, and difficult to reclaim from the Parishes and Police, but it could 
make a big difference to the care leaver.  

74.4 Accordingly, it was  

 
RESOLVED: 1. That a class be determined for Gloucestershire care 

leavers between the ages of 18 and 21 for the 
purposes of Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992.  

2. That it be RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL that the 
Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers be 
ADOPTED effective from 1 April 2019.  

3. That authority be delegated to the Head of Corporate 
Services to apply the discount for care leavers, with 
any dispute being subject to an internal 
reconsideration by the Deputy Chief Executive.  

6



EX.06.02.19 

EX.75 DEERHURST NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN DESIGNATION AND SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION  

75.1 The report of the Planning Policy Officer, circulated at Pages No. 49-60, set out an 
application from Deerhurst Parish Council for the designation of a new 
neighbourhood area and also sought approval to amend the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation so that future neighbourhood area designations could be delegated to 
the Head of Development Services for approval subject to them following their 
Parish Council boundary.   

75.2 The Head of Development Services advised that the application from Deerhurst 
Parish Council had been assessed and found to be valid and, accordingly, the 
Council had an obligation to designate it as a neighbourhood area so that it could 
commence its neighbourhood plan. This obligation had been introduced with the 
amended regulations of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development 
Management Procedure (Amendment) Regulation 2016. This now meant the 
Council had to determine neighbourhood area applications within 13 weeks and, 
where they related to an entire Parish or area, had a default duty to designate. It 
was for these reasons that a delegation was sought to speed up the Council’s 
process.  

75.3 Having considered the information provided, it was  

 
RESOLVED: 1. That a neighbourhood area covering the Parish of 

Deerhurst be APPROVED for designation.   

2. That the Scheme of Delegation be amended to 
delegate authority to the Head of Development 
Services to approve the designation of neighbourhood 
areas where a relevant body proposes a 
neighbourhood area that follows their Parish Council 
boundary meeting the requirements of Regulation 5A 
of Statutory Instrument 2012/637 (The Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulation 2012).  

EX.76 TEWKESBURY MOP FAIR OPENING TIME - VARIATION TO AGREEMENT  

76.1 The report of the Community and Economic Development Manager, circulated at 
Pages No. 61-63, requested that the arrangement to open the Mop Fair at an 
earlier time of 4pm be made permanent by a formal variation of the licence 
between the fair operator and the Borough Council.   

76.2 The Head of Development Services explained that, in 2018, the Fair Operator had 
requested that the Mop Fair open at 4pm instead of the usual time of 6pm. 
Temporary arrangements had been made to allow this to happen for one year so 
that the change could be assessed. Following that arrangement, the Fair Operator 
had requested it to be formalised and made permanent through a formal variation 
of the licence. It was therefore recommended that this be agreed, subject to the 
annual approval of the emergency services.  

 

 

 

 

 

7



EX.06.02.19 

76.3 Accordingly, it was  

 
RESOLVED: That, subject to the annual approval of the emergency 

services, a variation to the current licence agreement be 
APPROVED to facilitate a 4pm opening of the Mop Fair with 
effect from 2019.  

 The meeting closed at 3:15 pm 

 
 

8



1 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 2019/20 
REGULAR ITEM: 
 

 Forward Plan – To note the forthcoming items. 
 

Addition to 6 March 2019 

 Borough Growth Reserve.  

 
 
 

Committee Date: 3 April 2019      

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Performance Management 
Report – Quarter Three 
2018/19. 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter three performance 
management information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

High Level Service Plan 
Summaries (Annual). 

To consider the key activities of each 
service grouping during 2017/18. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

ICT Strategy.  To approve the ICT Strategy.  Head of Corporate Services.  Yes – from 16 January 2019 to align 
with the action within the Corporate 
Services action plan.  

Workforce Development 
Strategy.  

To approve the Council’s Workforce 
Development Strategy.  

Head of Corporate Services.  Yes – from 6 March 2019 to allow 
further work on the strategy.  

Financial Procedure Rules.  To consider revised Financial 
Procedure Rules and make a 
recommendation to Council.  

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.  

No.  

 
 

9

A
genda Item

 6



2 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Committee Date: 12 June 2019    

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Financial Outturn Report 
(including Capital Financing 
and Earmarked Reserves) 
(Annual).  

To consider the Council’s financial 
outturn. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No.  

Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) Governance and 
Policy.  

To approve the CIL Governance.  Head of Development Services. Yes, moved from 6 March 2019 for 
further work. 

 
 

10



3 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date:  17 July 2019 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Performance Management 
Report – Quarter Four 
2018/19. 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter four performance 
management information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

Confidential Item: Spring 
Gardens/Oldbury Road 
Regeneration. 

To consider the information provided and 
agree a way forward. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.  

No.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 

 
 

11



4 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date:  4 September 2019      

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Financial Update – Quarter 
One 2019/20. 

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly). 

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts.  

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 

 
 

Committee Date: 16 October 2019     

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Performance Management 
Report – Quarter One 
2019/20. 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter one performance 
management information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

 
 

12



5 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date:  27 November 2019 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Financial Update – Quarter 
Two 2019/20. 

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly). 

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts.  

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 

 
 

13



6 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date:  8 January 2020    

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Performance Management 
Report – Quarter Two 
2019/20. 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter two performance 
management information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (Annual). 

To recommend to Council the adoption of 
the five-year MTFS which describes the 
financial environment the Council is 
operating in and the pressures it will face 
in delivering its services and a balanced 
budget over the period. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Housing Strategy Monitoring 
Report (Year 4) (Annual). 

To approve the Housing Strategy 
Monitoring Report for Year Four.   

Housing Services Manager. No. 

Treasury and Capital 
Management (Annual) 

To approve and recommend approval to 
Council, a range of statutorily required 
polices and strategies relating to treasury 
and capital management.  

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.  

No.  

 
 

14



7 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date: 5 February 2020  

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Budget 2020/21 (Annual). To recommend a budget for 2020/21 to 
the Council.  

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Financial Update - Quarter 
Three 2019/20. 

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly). 

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts.  

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 

 
 

Committee Date: 4 March 2020 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

    

 
 

15



8 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date: 8 April 2020     

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Performance Management 
Report – Quarter Three 
2019/20. 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter three performance 
management information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

Council Plan 2016/20 
Refresh (Annual). 

To consider the Council Plan and make a 
recommendation to Council. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

High Level Service Plan 
Summaries (Annual). 

To consider the key activities of each 
service grouping during 2018/19. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

 
 
PENDING ITEMS 
 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item 

  

  

  

 

16



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2019 

Subject: Council Plan Year 4 (2016-20) 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services  

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Leader of the Council  

Number of Appendices: One 

 

Executive Summary: 

The Council Plan is a key strategic document which establishes an overarching vision for the 
Borough and sets out, in broad terms, the priorities, objectives and actions that the Council will 
focus upon to work towards the vision. The current plan (2016-20) was approved by Council on 
19 April 2016. The plan is reviewed on an annual basis and where appropriate updated. The 
Council Plan 2016-20 (Year Four) is attached at Appendix 1. This is the final year of the 
current Council Plan. 

Recommendation: 

That, subject to any amendments from the Executive Committee, the Council Plan 
refresh is RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL for ADOPTION.  

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To ensure the plan remains a live document, actions need to be reviewed on an annual basis 
and refreshed where appropriate.  

 

Resource Implications: 

None arising directly from this report.   

Legal Implications: 

None arising directly from this report.  

Risk Management Implications: 

If the Council does not have an up to date Council Plan it cannot demonstrate that priorities 
are being achieved.  

Performance Management Follow-up: 

Delivery of the Council Plan actions are monitored though a Performance Tracker which is 
reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis. The outcome of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is reported to Executive Committee by the Chair of 
Overview and Scrutiny.  

17

Agenda Item 7



Environmental Implications:  

None arising directly from this report. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Council Plan is a key strategic document which establishes an overarching vision for 
the Borough and sets out, in broad terms, the priorities, objectives and actions that the 
Council will focus upon to work towards the vision. The Plan (2016-20) contains four 
priority themes supported by a number of key objectives and actions. The plan is 
reviewed annually and, where appropriate, updated. The refresh ensures the plan is a 
‘live’ document. The draft Plan (Year 4) is attached in Appendix 1. This is the final year of 
the current Council Plan.  

2.0 THE COUNCIL PLAN 2016-20 (Year 4)  

2.1 It is proposed the vision, values and priority themes remain substantially unchanged. The 
vision for the Borough is ‘a place where a good quality of life is open to all’. The Plan also 
sets out the values which we will hold as we work to deliver the vision. We are a Council 
which puts customers first, is positive about working with others and which values its 
employees.  

2.2 The Plan re-affirms the Council’s four priority themes. The priorities are:   

 Finances and resources; 

 Promoting and supporting economic growth;  

 Growing and supporting communities; and 

 Customer-focused services. 

Each of the four priorities is supported by a series of key objectives and actions which 
will focus activity on delivery of the priorities. A couple of the objectives have been 
reworded slightly to reflect the up to date position. For example, the objective ‘further 
expansion of the Public Services Centre’ has been amended to ‘maximise partnership 
working within the Public Services Centre’.  

2.3 The actions, can be either of an operational or strategic nature and are updated where 
appropriate to reflect progress made during the course of the previous year. A number of 
supporting actions have been removed as they were delivered in year three. For 
example, ‘seek tenants for the remainder of the top floor and other spaces’ and ‘deliver 
the Public Services Centre refurbishment project’. A number of actions have been 
amended to reflect the changing nature of that action. For example, ‘launch a business 
growth hub …. ‘has been amended to ‘deliver growth hub services... ‘. Actions which are 
not subject to change, tend to be those that are of a more strategic nature and are likely 
to be implemented in the medium to long term. For example, the regeneration of Spring 
Gardens and those actions relating to future growth and infrastructure of the Borough.  

2.4 The priorities and supporting objectives and actions ensure the Council retains its 
ambition and is one that is seen to ‘punch above its weight’.  

18



 

3.0 MONITORING PROGRESS  

3.1 A performance tracker is in place to monitor delivery of the Council Plan actions and this 
is reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis. Outcomes of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee review are then reported to Executive Committee.  

4.0 PROMOTING THE COUNCIL PLAN  

4.1 The prime audience for the Council Plan are the Council’s Members, staff and key 
partners. The updated Plan will be available on the Council’s website (including links to 
key strategies and policies e.g. Economic Development and Tourism Strategy), intranet 
and in hard copy format on request. Easy print and summary versions will also be 
available. The Plan will be published in the media and through Borough News. Poster 
versions will also be available for use internally.  

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

5.1 None. 

6.0 CONSULTATION  

6.1 Corporate Management Team.  

7.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

7.1 There are a number of key strategies that support delivery of Council Plan priorities. For 
example, digital strategy; housing and homelessness strategy; economic development 
and tourism strategy etc.  

8.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

8.1  A wide range of government policies underpin actions within the priority themes.  

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

9.1 No direct resource implications.  

10.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

10.1 The Council Plan seeks to ensure economic, social and environmental sustainability.  

11.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

11.1 The Council Plan seeks to ensure value for money and equitable service provision.  

12.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

12.1 Council Plan (2016-2020) approved 19 April 2016.   

Background Papers:     None. 

Contact Officer:  Head of Corporate Services 
 Tel: 01684 272002 Email: graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk  
Appendices:  1 – Council Plan Refresh (2016-2020). 

19

mailto:graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


2016-20

Tewkesbury Borough

Council Plan

Year 4: 2019

20



CONTENTS
P1
Foreword

P2
Tewkesbury Borough

P3
A snapshot of our borough

P4 
Our vision and values

P5
Our priorities and
objectives

P6
Finance and resources

P7
Economic development

P8
Housing

P9
Customer focused
services

P10
Keeping our performance
on track

P11,12,
Our achievements

P13
Photo index
Contact details

21



1

Foreword
We are now entering the final year of our Council Plan 2016 -
2020. Last year was a really busy one for the council and we
made great progress in many of our plan’s actions. This year, our
priorities and objectives remain the same with updated actions to
be achieved in order to drive forward our vision:  

“Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a good quality of 
life is open to all”

To deliver this vision and provide a focus for our Council Plan, our four priorities are: 

•    Finance and resources 
•    Promoting and supporting economic growth
•    Growing and supporting communities 
•    Customer focused services 

The third year of our plan saw some fantastic achievements, including maximising the use
of our Public Services Centre, developing a concept masterplan for Ashchurch and
Junction 9, appointing regeneration experts for the development of Spring Gardens and
far exceeding our target for the delivery of affordable homes.  

But we are not a council to rest on our laurels, and on top of the excellent achievements
we have made so far, we will continue to push really hard during this final year of the
Council Plan to deliver even more transformational projects. We will keep using the
pressures we face to force us to think differently about how we shape and deliver our
services. 

This next year will be an exciting and challenging one for Tewkesbury Borough Council.
We will continue to deliver excellent customer-focused services in the face of increasing
financial pressure. Our council tax remains one of the lowest in the country and has been
for many years – we really are experts in doing more for less. 

This will be an opportunistic time for our local businesses too – the successful launch of
our business growth hub in our Public Services Centre means we can now offer targeted
support to local businesses of all types, from pre-start to existing companies and
organisations looking to grow.

Over the lifetime of this plan we have continued to become less risk averse and have
moved forward with our commercial approach to generate income. We have now
introduced a new Commercial Strategy – a high level document which will help drive
forward further commercial opportunities so we can provide excellent value-for-money
while still meeting customers’ needs. 

Our Council Plan recognises that there is more of a role for councils than just operational
service delivery. The future for Tewkesbury Borough is based around wider issues such
as infrastructure, communities and housing delivery – you will see these issues these
feature as priorities and actions within the plan. 

You will also see (on pages 11 and 12) that we have made lots of achievements under
each of our priorities throughout the last year and we will continue to drive this progress
forward throughout the coming year. 

Top: Councillor Rob Bird
Leader of the Council 
Bottom: Councillor Jim Mason 
Deputy Leader of the Council

22



2

Tewkesbury Borough
Our borough is predominantly rural and located in the north of the
county extending southwards beyond Gloucester and Cheltenham.
The eastern part of the borough lies within the Cotswold AONB.
Our population is roughly 90,332 made up of 41,000 households
spread across 160 square miles. It has an excellent location at the
heart of the M5 corridor. 

Despite its apparent rural character, the borough includes a wide range of
economic activity ranging from large multinationals to micro businesses. The
borough is an established centre for high quality manufacturing and home to
some world class high tech aero engineering firms. The diverse and
contrasting range of settlements provides a high quality environment in which
to live and this, combined with its excellent strategic location, makes it an
ideal area for economic and business growth.

23



3

A snapshot of 
Tewkesbury Borough
n   The borough has a population of around 90,332, with ONS projections of 99,700 
       by 2028 and 106,100 by 2039.  

n   Projections suggest the number of people aged 65 and above will increase from 
       19,500 in 2016 to 31,700 in 2039, an increase of 63%. This compares to a projected 
       increase of 12% for the 0-19 year old population and 5% for the 20-64 year old 
       population. 

n   The proportion of Black and Minority Ethnicity (BME) population rose from 1.4% 
       to 2.5% between 2001 and 2011 (lower than the county and national %). “White 
       Other” population has more than doubled between 2001 and 2015, from 940 to 
       2,106.

n   The borough has a highly skilled workforce that reflects the nature and demand 
       of a high technology manufacturing and service base, which is projected to 
       grow. 

n   The borough remains an established centre for manufacturing and this 
       represents 23.2% of overall employment in Tewkesbury Borough. 

n   The current employment rate of 16-64 year olds is 84.7%, which is higher than the
       national rate of 75% and the county rate of 82.1%

n   Claimant unemployment is 1.3%, which is below the county average of 1.5% and 
       the national rate of 2.2%. 

n   Life expectancy at birth is 80.8 years for males and 84.7 years for females, which 
       is slightly higher than the county average and significantly higher than the 
       national average.  

n   16.5% of residents reported having a long term health problem or disability, 
       broadly in line with the county average and below the regional and national 
       average. 

n   Two thirds of the borough are ranked within the 40% least deprived areas in 
       England, accounting for 65% of the population. The borough has small pockets of
       deprivation ranked in the top 20% deprived areas nationally. 

n     The borough experiences crime rates much lower than the overall rates for 
       England and Wales, south west region and Gloucestershire county.

24



4

Our vision and values
2016-20

Our vision is to make:

“Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a 

good quality of life is open to all."

Our values
Everything we do is aimed at delivering our vision but the way we deliver services is
equally important to us. We are an ambitious council punching above its weight, and
we have therefore adopted a set of values which we apply across all of our activities.
We are a council which: 

Puts customers first
We will put the needs of our customers at the heart of what we do and listen to
what they say, treating people fairly and without bias.

Is positive about working with others
We recognise we cannot achieve our vision by working alone. We will continue
to develop productive working relationships with other organisations and our
communities, including the voluntary sector, town and parish councils and
neighbourhood groups to achieve common goals.

Values our employees
We will support, praise and invest in our workforce to develop our organisation.

Supporting our values we also have an ethos that whatever we do will be ‘better for
customers, better for business’.

25



5

Our priorities and
objectives 2016-20
n    Finances and resources

-    Seek to be financially independent of the government’s core grants. 
-    Maintain a low council tax. 
-    Investigate and take appropriate commercial opportunities. 
-    Use our assets to provide maximum financial return.

n    Promoting and supporting economic growth 
-    Deliver our strategic plans. 
-    Deliver employment land. 
-    Maximise the growth potential of the M5 junctions.
-    Deliver regeneration for Tewkesbury town. 
-    Promote the borough as a visitor attraction.

n    Growing and supporting communities 
-    Increase the supply of suitable housing across the borough to support growth 
     and meet the needs of our communities.
-    Maintain a five year supply of land. 
-    Ensure a supply of land to accommodate a five year requirement
-    Deliver the homes and necessary infrastructure to create new sustainable 
     communities in key locations. 
-    Deliver affordable homes to meet local need. 

n    Customer-focused services
-    Maintain and improve our culture of continuous service improvement. 
-    Further expansion of the Public Services Centre.
-    Maximise partnership working within the Public Services Centre.
-    To improve customer access to our services and service delivery through 
     digital methods. 
             

26



Why this is a priority
The council has to manage with less money whilst demands on its services and costs
increase so it is important we focus on delivering services that maximise value for
money, sustainability and efficiency. We need to maximise and invest in commercial
activities.  

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are: 

n Seek to be financially independent of the government’s core 
grants. 
a)  Deliver the council’s transformation programme to deliver a balanced budget. 
b)  Maximise retention around business rates.
c)  Work to reduce our deficits, outlined in the Medium Term Financial 
     Strategy.

n Maintain a low council tax. 
a)  Produce a Medium Term Financial Strategy which ensures that council tax 
     remains in the lowest quartile nationally. 

n Investigate and take appropriate commercial opportunities. 
a)  Deliver the aims and objectives of our commercial property investment 
     strategy. 
b)  Undertake a review of the discretionary trade waste service to ensure it is 
     operating on a viable commercial level. 
c)  Explore opportunities to increase commercial activity in all services.
c)  Increase commercial activity in all services in line with our commercial 
     strategy. 

n Use our assets to provide maximum financial return.
a)  Explore options for the regeneration of Spring Gardens. 
b)  Explore options for the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries (MAFF) site. 
b)  Disposal of the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Fisheries (MAFF) site. 
c)  Deliver the council’s asset management plan. 
c)  Investigate the potential use of remaining vacant areas in the Public Service 
     Centre (PSC) 

Finance and resources

6
27



Why this is a priority
The council has ambitious plans to make Tewkesbury Borough the primary growth
engine for Gloucestershire’s economy. The borough occupies a strategic location and
we want the local economy to thrive and prosper and to provide jobs that people want.
The future of the borough will be focused on the delivery of employment land and
housing together with infrastructure and skills. Attracting new investment, as well as
retaining and strengthening existing businesses, will ensure the future prosperity of the
borough. 

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are:

n Deliver our strategic plans.
a) Deliver the Economic Development and Tourism Strategy.
a) Deliver year three of our Economic Development and Tourism Strategy. 
b) Launch a business growth hub in the Public Services Centre.
b) Deliver growth hub services in the Public Services Centre. 
c) Conduct a retail study in partnership with Cheltenham Borough Council and 

Gloucester City Council.
c) Work with the Local Enterprise Partnership and other partners to contribute to 

the Local Industrial Strategy.

n Deliver employment land. 
a) Deliver employment land through the Joint Core Strategy and Tewkesbury 

Borough Plan. 
a) Deliver employment land through allocating land in the Joint Core Strategy 

(JCS) and Tewkesbury Borough Plan (TBP). 

n Maximise the growth potential of the M5 junctions. 
a) Produce a concept masterplan for the Junction 9 area.
a) Produce a detailed strategy for the delivery of growth at Junction 9. 
b) Work with partners to secure transport infrastructure improvements around 

the borough, including the all-ways Junction 10, Junction 9 and A46 
improvements.

n Deliver regeneration for Tewkesbury town.  
a) Develop a supplementary planning document for Tewkesbury town. 
a) Prepare and adopt a supplementary planning document for the regeneration of

Tewkesbury Town. 
b) Develop a programme with partners to progress Healings Mill and other key 

development opportunity sites to support the regeneration of Tewkesbury. 

n Promote the borough as a visitor attraction.
a) Explore with partners – including the Battlefield Society – the potential to 

increase the heritage offer at the Battlefield site.  
b) Develop a programme to work with existing tourism attractions within the 

borough to promote historic heritage. 
b) Review tourism resources to maximise the tourist provisions in the 

borough. 

Prom
oting and supporting

econom
ic grow

th

7
28



Why this is a priority
We recognise how important it is for residents to feel part of their communities. It is
important we ensure residents have access to enough good quality, affordable
housing that can make a real difference to their lives. Not only is housing important for
the health and well-being of residents it is also an important part of building and
maintaining strong communities and supporting the economic prosperity of the
borough.  

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are:

n Increase the supply of suitable housing across the borough to 
support growth and meet the needs of our communities.
a) Work with partners to ensure the delivery of housing growth through the 

Joint Core Strategy (JCS) and undertake the required reviews to meet JCS 
housing shortfalls.

a) Work with partners to undertake the required reviews to the JCS. 
b) Develop the Tewkesbury Borough Plan.
b) Prepare and adopt the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. 
c) Support Neighbourhood Development Plans where communities bring them 

forward.
c) Support communities in the preparation of the Neighbourhood Development 

Plans (NDP), where they are brought forward. 
d) Develop housing growth plans associated with the Junction 9 masterplan.
d) Ensure land is allocated for housing as part of the Junction 9 masterplan. 
e) With partners, explore options for the provision of modular and innovative 

housing to meet housing needs.

n Maintain a five year supply of land.
Ensure a supply of land to accommodate a five year 
requirement.
a) Ensure adequate land is allocated within the JCS and Tewkesbury Borough 

Plan to meet housing need. 
b) Work with developers and stakeholders to deliver sustainable sites to meet 

housing needs. 

n Deliver the homes and necessary infrastructure to create new 
sustainable communities in key locations. 
a) Monitor annually the delivery of homes within the borough. 
b) Work with partners, infrastructure providers and developers to progress the 

delivery of key sites. 
c) Produce a business case for improvements to the A40 at Longford, including 

improvements to Longford roundabout. 
d) Deliver short-term access improvements to the infrastructure around the 

Ashchurch Housing Zone. 
e) To produce a Place Development Strategy.
e) Integrate Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) into community planning 

processes. 

n Deliver affordable homes to meet local need.
a) Implement effective actions to meet the needs of homelessness legislation.
a) Continue to improve the proactive Homelessness Prevention programme. 
b) Achieve the council’s affordable homes target by working with local housing

providers.  
c) Work in partnership to deliver the council’s housing and homeless strategy.  
d) Work with Severn Vale Housing Society, Bromford Housing Group and Merlin

Housing Society in respect of their merger.
d) Develop a programme to work with landlords to ensure residents have a 

supply of rented properties to meet their needs.
e) Carry out housing needs assessments in parish areas with a view to 

delivering affordable housing in rural areas. 

G
row

ing and supporting
com

m
unities

8
29



Why this is a priority
One of our core values is to put the needs of our customers at the heart of what we do
and listen to what they say. We want to provide the best possible service to all of our
customers, particularly in terms of resolving queries at the first point of contact.
Digital technology is changing our customers’ expectations and we want them to be
able to access our services when and where they need it. We will work with our
partners to make access to all of our services easier.      

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are:

n Maintain and improve our culture of continuous service 
improvement.
a) Deliver improvements through the review of Development Services action plan 

to create an efficient, effective and economical service.  
b) Deliver improvements through the review of Community Services to create an 

efficient, effective and economical service. 
a) Implement the One Legal business review and associated case management 

system replacement. 
b) To continue to proactively enforce against enviro-crimes including fly-tipping 

and dog fouling in accordance with the action plan. 
c) Deliver our Place Approach. 
d) Review our Advice and Information Centres (AICs) 

n Further expansion of the Public Services Centre.
Maximise partnership working within the Public Services 
Centre.
a) Deliver the Public Services Centre refurbishment project.  
b) Seek tenants for the remainder of the top floor and other spaces.
a) Develop a programme to create partnerships within Public Service Centre.
b) To work with health and well-being partners to support the development of a 

Local Integrated Health Partnership. 

n To improve customer access to our services and service 
delivery through digital methods. 
a) Explore options to provide online public access to interactive planning policy

information maps. 
b) Introduce the option for paperless billing for council tax and business rates. 
c) Explore options and deliver a corporate-wide customer relationship 

management (CRM) system.
c) Explore options for a corporate-wide customer relationship management 

(CRM) system.
d) Investigate digital methods to improve customer engagement. 
e) Review our corporate website. 

C
ustom

er focused services

9
30



Keeping our
performance on track
Good performance management is when an organisation knows it is doing
the right things well. To monitor how well we are performing, our
performance management framework includes a council plan performance
tracker. The tracker monitors the progress in delivering the actions which
support each priority theme. Progress is reported on a quarterly basis to our
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Supporting the tracker is a set of key
performance indicators and a financial summary analysis. The findings from
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee review are personally reported by the
chair of committee to the council’s Executive Committee.

Our performance management framework is supported with effective decision
making and where appropriate the consideration of risk, when delivering our
objectives. Both of these are key elements of our overall governance framework. To
ensure our arrangements are as robust as possible during the course of the year
we have undertaken a full review of the council’s constitution and have refreshed
our risk management framework. 

We look forward to reporting our success factors over the final year of the Council
Plan (2016-2020).

Should you require any further information about the Council Plan, please contact:

Graeme Simpson, Head of Corporate Services
phone: 01684 272002      email:  graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk

10
31



These include; 

Finances and resources
• Commercial property investments have been made throughout the year. Our

property portfolio of £39.5m is generating an annual gross income of £2.4m.  
• We have produced a Medium Term Financial Strategy which has ensured 

our council tax remains one of the lowest in the country (we are the fifth 
lowest nationally).

• The Public Services Centre (PSC) refurbishment is complete including a 
modern and spacious reception area.  

• The top floor of the PSC is now fully occupied. Overall rental income from all
PSC partners is £270k per annum.

• MACE Group Ltd, development advisor, were successfully appointed to 
explore the options for redevelopment of the Tewkesbury area including the
Spring Gardens car park.

• Approval of a new commercialisation strategy which will explore new 
income generation initiatives and efficiency savings.  

Promoting and supporting economic growth
• We are the first council nationally to incorporate a business Growth Hub 

within our main council building.  
• 30 projects have been approved under the Leader project scheme totalling 

a value of over £755k across Tewkesbury Borough and the Forest of Dean 
district.

• We held a successful business event promoting the Economic Development
team and the Growth Hub that saw over 100 businesses attend.

• Over 140 community groups have been supported throughout the year to 
apply for over £1.8million worth of funds since July 2015.

• Concept masterplan for Junction 9 of the M5 has been approved for 
consultation.

Our achievements 
2018-2019

11
32



Our achievements 
2018-2019

Growing and supporting communities
• Continued support is provided to town and parish councils for the 

development of neighbourhood plans- 16 parishes are preparing plans and 
five have been adopted.

• Preferred Options for the Tewkesbury Borough Plan was approved by 
Council in September and has been subject to consultation.

• Supported Severn Vale Housing Society in respect of their merger with 
Bromford Housing Group and Merlin Housing Society.

• Joint Core Strategy (JCS) initial Issues and Options consultation was 
completed in January 2018. 

• We have exceeded our target figure of 200 affordable homes delivered in 
2018/19.

• We have successfully implemented a new database to manage the new 
Homelessness Reduction Act Legislation which was brought into force at 
the beginning of 2018/19.

• Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was adopted by Council in October 
2018. 

Customer-focussed services
• We continue to provide a £53,000 grant to the Citizen Advice Bureau who 

supported over 1200 members of our community in the last year.
• The borough maintains a good level of recycling with an average rate of 55%

for 2018/19.
• The garden waste club has continued to be a success with over 17,100 

sticker licenses being sold. Of which 70% renewed their subscriptions 
online. Generating an income of nearly £800k.

• Our residents are now able to pay for a variety of services via Paypoint - 
making paying for bills more accessible for all.

• We have developed new websites on behalf of key partners – Joint Core 
Strategy, Building Control and Tewkesbury Town Regeneration Partnership. 

• We have restructured our community services team to enable them to 
support business and have undergone a review to improve their service 
offer.

12
33



Photo index
front cover Growth Hub

Snowshill
M5 Junction 9

contents page View over borough from Cleeve Hill
page 1 Leader and Deputy Leader of the council
page 2 New housing development in Winchcombe

P.E.P Precision Engineering Company
Growth Hub launch

page 3 Tewkesbury Marina
P.E.P Precision Engineering Company
Church Street, Tewkesbury

page 4 Tewkesbury Leisure Centre
Churchdown skate park
Public Services Centre

page 5 Growth Hub
M5 Junction 9
Tewkesbury riverside walk

page 7 Growth Hub
page 8 Brockworth Library
page 10 Ashchurch Station

Winchcombe
page 11 Tewkesbury Marina

Winchcombe
Staverton Airport

page 12 Stoke Orchard Housing

13

Our contact details: Tewkesbury Borough Council
Public Services Centre,  Gloucester Road

Tewkesbury,  GL20 5TT

Phone 01684 295010
email: customerservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk.

www.tewkesbury.gov.uk

Produced by the Corporate Services Team, February 2019.34



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2019 

Subject: Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services  

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Finance and Asset Management 

Number of Appendices: One 

 

Executive Summary: 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for a revised Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
which sets out proposals for awarding discretionary rate relief to business ratepayers.  It takes 
into account additional discretionary powers brought forward by the Localism Act 2011 as well 
as updating the financial implications to Tewkesbury Borough Council of awarding 
discretionary rate relief. 

Recommendation: 

That the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy, attached to the report at Appendix 1, is 
ADOPTED.  

Reasons for Recommendation: 

Before business rates reliefs can be awarded, the proposals must be put before the Council’s 
Executive Committee for consideration and adoption. 

 

Resource Implications: 

When discretionary rate relief applications are considered the financial impact upon the 
Collection Fund and, ultimately, the impact on the Council’s retained business rates income is 
one of the key determinants of the final decision. 

The implications of granting Discretionary Rate Relief are as follows: 

Tewkesbury Borough Council – meets the cost of 40% of any relief granted. 

Gloucestershire County Council – meets the cost of 10% of any relief granted. 

Central Government – meets the cost of 50% of any relief granted. 

Legal Implications: 

Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, and subsequent amending legislation, 
provides the criteria for awarding discretionary rate relief to certain categories of non-domestic 
ratepayer. Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011 provides a new discretionary power to reduce 
the business rates of any ratepayer (not just those who have historically been granted 
discretionary rate relief) via a local discount scheme. 

35

Agenda Item 8



Risk Management Implications: 

Any decisions made based on such a policy would be open to legal challenge by way of 
Judicial Review.  Conversely the risk associated with not adopting the suggested policy will 
significantly reduce the risk that decisions on discretionary rate relief could be successfully 
challenged. 

Damage to reputation is a risk by failing to adopt a policy. 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

The award of business rates reliefs will be monitored to ensure discretionary rate relief is 
accurately and transparently assessed and awarded. 

Environmental Implications: 

None. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 The report brings forward an updated Discretionary Rate Relief Policy which reviews the 
approach to the award of reliefs to ratepayers as well as confirming the financial 
implications of granting relief as provided for by the Business Rates Retention Scheme.  

2.0 BACKGROUND  

2.1 National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR), or business rates, are payable by owners and 
occupiers of commercial properties in accordance with the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988.  Until April 2013, business rates were collected by the Council and passed to 
central government which redistributed them nationally.  However, with the localisation of 
business rates, income from business rates now impacts more directly on the Council’s 
financial position. 

2.2 The proposed Discretionary Rate Relief Policy (attached as Appendix 1) outlines the 
areas of local discretion and the Council’s approach to various discretionary awards.  
This has been prepared having regard to the impact: 

 of granting discretionary relief on the Council’s wider financial position and 
Council tax payers; 

 on the organisations and businesses that currently receive relief or may apply for 
relief in the future; and 

 on the residents, businesses and Council Tax payers of Tewkesbury Borough. 

2.3 The Business Rates Retention Scheme (effective from 1 April 2013) means the amount 
of mandatory relief awarded to charitable organisations (80% of their business rates 
liability) together with the impact of decisions on discretionary rate relief for other 
organisations and businesses now impacts more directly on the Council’s budget and 
medium term financial position. 

36



 

2.4 The legislation governing the granting of discretionary rate relief is found in Section 47 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and subsequent amending legislation.  The 
qualifying conditions are one of the following: 

 the ratepayer is a charity or trustees for a charity and the hereditament (‘liable 
property’) is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes (whether of that charity 
or of that and other charities); 

 the hereditament is not an excepted hereditament and all or part of it is occupied 
for the purposes of one or more institutions or other organisations none of which 
is established or conducted for profit and each of whose main objects are 
charitable or are otherwise philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, 
social welfare or the fine arts; 

 the hereditament is not an excepted hereditament, it is wholly or mainly used for 
the purposes of recreation and all or part of it is occupied for the purposes of a 
club, society or other organisation not established or conducted for profit. 

2.5 The Localism Act 2011 amended Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
to give billing authorities the power to reduce business rates as they see fit and the 
proposed policy at Appendix 1 has been updated to reflect this. 

2.6 When deciding whether to award any Discretionary Rate Relief, the principal 
consideration is that, in making an award of relief, there should be a positive impact for 
residents and Council Tax payers in Tewkesbury Borough.  This consideration also 
includes long term benefits to both the community and the Council Tax payer such as 
increasing employment of improving amenities available to the local community. 

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

3.1 None.  

4.0 CONSULTATION  

4.1 There is no statutory requirement to consult on these proposals. 

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

5.1 Promoting and supporting economic growth. 

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

6.1 Policies for relief to support the financial burden on business rate payers. 

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

7.1 None directly associated with this report other than officer time. 

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

8.1 None. 

37



 

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

9.1 None. 

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

10.1 None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer:  Revenues and Benefits Manager 

 Tel: 01684 272119 Email: geni.hotchkiss@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: 1. Discretionary Rate Relief Policy.   

 

38

mailto:geni.hotchkiss@tewkesbury.gov.uk


 
 

Appendix One 

 

 

 

 

Tewkesbury Borough Council  
 
 

Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



 
 

1. Introduction and scope 

1.1 Tewkesbury Borough Council recognises the importance of supporting local 

businesses, charities and voluntary organisations to promote the provision of 

local facilities, support economic growth and investment and improve 

prosperity. 

1.2 Councils have the power to award relief from the payment of Non-Domestic 

Rates (Business Rates) to organisations and businesses that meet certain 

criteria.  Public funds are not, however, unlimited and a proportion of any relief 

granted is met by the council tax payers of the district.  We therefore need to 

be satisfied that money invested this way will be repaid in economic and/or 

community benefit. 

1.3 The power for granting discretionary rate relief is provided for by Section 47 of 

the Local Government Finance Act 1988.  This has been amended by 

subsequent legislation which gives wider powers to grant discretionary relief 

to any ratepayer where the authority feels the granting of such relief would 

benefit the local community. 

1.4 This policy is designed to provide guidance to Council Officers and ratepayers 

on the application of Discretionary Rate Relief.  This policy covers the 

following types of discretionary rate relief: 

 Charitable rate relief 

 Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) 

 Rate relief for not-for-profit organisations 

 Discretionary rural rate relief 

 Hardship relief 

 Temporary relief for partly occupied properties 

 Local discounts and incentives 

1.5 This policy document outlines the various areas of local discretion and the 

Council’s approach to the various reliefs.  This approach has regard to the 

impact: 

 of granting discretionary relief on the Council’s wider financial position and the 

impact on its council tax payers; 

 on the organisations and businesses that currently receive or may apply for 

relief in the future; 

 on the residents of Tewkesbury Borough if relief is awarded and the economic 

benefits to the Borough. 

 

 

40



 
 

2. The Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme 

2.1 Discretionary rate relief (DRR) is granted in accordance with Section 43 of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1988 and Sections 47 and 49 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988 as amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

 Section 69 of the Localism Act amended Section 47 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 to allow billing authorities to fund their own local discounts.  

The Council can grant business rates discounts and incentives as is sees fit 

within the limits of primary legislation and European rules on state aid.  These 

powers can be used to encourage new business and investment as well as 

support local shops or services to the community. 

2.2 The legislation requires the Council to maintain a Discretionary Rate Relief 

(DRR) scheme to award rate relief of up to 100% to certain organisations and 

businesses which operate within specified criteria.  This includes: 

 charitable bodies already in receipt of mandatory relief of 80%.  The Council 

has a discretion to ‘top-up’ this relief to 100% of the business rates due; 

 registered community amateur sports clubs (CASCs) already in receipt of 

mandatory relief of 80%; 

 non-profit making organisations – the Council has the discretion to grant relief 

of up to 100% of the business rates due; 

 Discretionary rate relief for ‘other rural businesses’ 

 Relief on the grounds of hardship 

 Relief for part-occupied premises 

 Local discounts and incentives 

2.3 In making decisions the Council may: 

 Grant relief up to a maximum of 100% of the business rates due; 

 Grant relief for a sum less than 100% of the business rates due; or 

 Refuse any application for relief 

2.4 Whilst mandatory relief can be backdated to previous financial years, 

legislation permits discretionary relief only to be awarded back to the start of 

the previous financial year where the application is submitted and assessed 

prior to the end of September in a relevant year. 

2.5 It is the Council’s policy that discretionary relief will only be awarded from the 

date of the application or, in the case of hardship relief, where the hardship 

occurred at that point in time.  Only in the most exceptional circumstances will 

consideration be given to awarding relief for a prior period.  The ratepayer 

must provide valid reasons for not having submitted their application at an 

earlier date. 

41



 
 

2.6 In the majority of cases discretionary relief will be granted for a period of two 

financial years only.  Successful applicants will be sent a letter confirming the 

award of discretionary relief.  This letter will also explain that the relief has 

been granted for two financial years only. 

3. The application process 

3.1 Applications for relief must be made on the Council’s application form.  

Applicants are encouraged to apply online at www.tewkesbury.gov.uk. 

Businesses and other organisations needing support or advice on making 

their application can contact us on businessrates@tewkesbury.gov.uk. 

3.2 Applications should be submitted with the relevant supporting information 

which includes: 

 Details of the applicant’s main purposes and objectives (where applicable) as 

set out in a written constitution, a memorandum of association or membership 

rules; 

 A full set of audited accounts relating to the two years prior to the date of 

application.  Where audited accounts are not available projections should be 

provided instead; 

 Details of how the organisation meets the relevant criteria detailed in these 

guidelines 

3.3 Any applications which are made without the supporting documentation will be 

subject to a decision being made solely on the information that is available at 

the time of the decision 

3.4 As a guide, to be eligible for discretionary rate relief a charity/organisation 

must not have enough unrestricted funds/reserves available to continue to 

operate for more than 12 months unless a business plan exists detailing how 

these additional funds are to be used to benefit the local community.  

3.5 In exceptional cases, discretionary rate relief will be granted to organisations 

which have enough financial resources in unrestricted funds/reserves to 

continue to operate for more than 12 months.  This may include charities and 

community organisations which require a large amount of available resources 

to sustain the service they deliver to the community.  In such cases the 

applicant must be able to prove it offers a service which the Borough’s 

residents depend on and which they would be unlikely to find elsewhere in the 

Borough. 

 

 

 

42

http://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/
mailto:businessrates@tewkesbury.gov.uk


 
 

3.6 The Council will aim to make a decision within a maximum of 2 weeks of the 

application and supporting information being received.  Decisions on the 

award of discretionary rate relief will be made by the Revenues and Benefits 

Manager. Ratepayers are required to continue to pay business rates whilst 

their application is being considered.  Failure to make payment will result in 

the Council pursuing collection through the usual enforcement procedures 

which could result in Court action.  

3.7 There is no statutory right of appeal against a decision other than by way of 

judicial review.  An unsuccessful applicant may make a request for the 

authority to review a decision, but only where:  

1.  Additional information relevant to the application that was not made 

available at the time the decision was made becomes available.  

2.  There are good grounds to believe the application or supporting 

information was not interpreted correctly at the time the decision was 

made.  

A request for review must be within 28 days of notification of the 

decision and must set out the reasons for the request and any 

supporting information.  

Cases will be reviewed by the Head of Corporate Services. 

3.8 All amounts of relief awarded are subject to state aid limits as defined by 

European legislation.  Relief will not exceed €200,000 in any 3-year financial 

period. 

3.9 The cost of awarding discretionary relief is apportioned as follows: 

 50% will be funded by Central Government 

 40% will be funded by Tewkesbury Borough Council 

 10% will be funded by Gloucestershire County Council 

3.10 Any decision regarding rate relief will be communicated to the applicant in 

writing.  Where the decision is a refusal the reasons for refusal will be 

provided in the letter. 

3.11 A review of the guidelines will be undertaken every 3 years in line with the 

Valuation Office Agency’s revaluation cycle, or if business rates legislation is 

amended, or as necessary to ensure it complies with current legislation and 

Tewkesbury Borough Council’s priorities. 

3.12 The ratepayer must inform the Council immediately of any change if their 

circumstances which may affect their eligibility for relief. 

43



 
 

 

4. Charitable Rate Relief 

4.1 Mandatory Rate Relief of 80% is granted to charities where: 

 The ratepayer is a charity or the trustees of a charity; and  

 The property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes (including 

charity shops where the goods sold are mainly donated and the proceeds are 

used for the purposes of the charity) 

4.2 Registration under the Charities Act 1993 is conclusive evidence of charitable 

status.  Bodies which are excepted from registration or are exempt charities 

are also eligible for mandatory relief. 

4.3 In cases where a charity is in receipt of mandatory relief of 80% the Council 

has discretion to grant up to 20% additional discretionary relief.  This is also 

known as discretionary rate relief ‘top-up’.  The Council will consider 

applications for discretionary relief from charities based on their own merits on 

a case by case basis.  The principal consideration in awarding relief is that is 

in the best interests of the residents and council tax payers of Tewkesbury 

Borough to do so and it produces a local benefit as the Council must 

contribute to the cost of each award. 

4.4 Each case will be assessed on its own merits, but generally top-up 

discretionary relief will only be awarded to the following charities or excepted 

organisations: 

 Scouts, guides, cadets and other clubs and organisations for young people; 

 Organisations providing support in the form of advice, employment training 

and counselling; 

 Community schemes including those providing support for those over 

retirement age, community transport and volunteer organisations; 

 Charitable supporting clubs; 

 Armed Forces veterans associations; 

 Locally based leisure and cultural organisations; 

4.5 The following general exclusions will apply: 

 ‘Top-up’ relief will only be granted to local charities (defined as those set up 

with the sole purpose of assisting residents of Tewkesbury Borough and 

whose main office is situated in the Borough); 

 Unless a special case for financial hardship can be proved ‘top-up’ relief to 

national charities (including charity shops) will not be granted; 

 

 

44



 
 

 

 Academy, free, grant maintained, faith and trust schools are classified as 

charities and therefore receive 80% mandatory relief.  ‘Top-up’ relief for 

schools and educational establishments which receive central or local 

government support should not be granted unless a special case for hardship 

can be shown; 

 ‘Top-up’ relief for Housing Associations will not be granted. 

5. Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CACSs) 

5.1 Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) are entitled to 80% 

mandatory relief.  The Council will consider applications for discretionary rate 

relief ‘top-up’ from CASCs based on their own merits on an application by 

application basis. 

5.2 The Council will consider applications that can demonstrate: 

 The contribution the organisation makes to the Tewkesbury Borough; 

 The club is open to the whole community and its membership fees are not 

excessive; 

 It is a non-profit making organisation; 

 Evidence that every effort is made by the organisation to encourage open 

membership from groups such as young people, disabled persons, women 

and those over retirement age; 

 Schemes of education and training are provided particularly for young people, 

disabled persons, women and those over retirement age; 

 How the CASC supports and links into the Council’s priorities 

5.3 The Council will also take into consideration if any building used is accessible 

to disabled people or if reasonable attempts have been made to make it 

accessible. 

5.4 Applications will only be considered where the club has an open access 

policy. If a club only accepts members who have reached a certain standard, 

rather than seeking to promote the attainment of excellence by developing 

sporting aptitude, it does not fulfil the requirements. 

5.5 Although clubs should be open to all without discrimination, single sex clubs 

may be permitted where such restrictions are a genuine result of physical 

restraint (such as changing room facilities) or the requirement of the sport.  In 

such cases the applicant will be required to provide proof of these factors. 

 

 

 

45



 
 

5.6 It should be noted that sports clubs which run a bar are unlikely to be awarded 

discretionary rate relief if their main purpose is the sale of food and drink.  If 

the sale of food and drink by the organisation aids the overall operation and 

development of the organisation meaning it achieves its objectives this is 

permissible if the principle objectives of the organisation meet the eligibility 

criteria detailed at 5.2.  If the bar makes a profit this relief must be reinvested 

to help the organisation meet its principal objectives.  Financial information 

will be required to evidence any profit and its use. 

6. Rate relief for not-for-profit organisations 

6.1 Not-for-profit organisations which are not classed as registered charities or 

CASCs can apply for discretionary rate relief of up to 100%.  Such 

organisations include those which are philanthropic, religious, concerned with 

education or social welfare, science, literature, the fine arts, recreation or are 

otherwise beneficial to the community. 

6.2 The Council will consider application from organisations which can 

demonstrate: 

 Its activities support at least one of the Council’s priorities; 

 It promotes its service for the benefit of Tewkesbury Borough’s residents; 

 Membership of the organisation is open to all members of the community 

regardless of ability; 

 The facilities of the organisation are to be made available, where practicable, 

to other organisations and groups; 

 Operates in such a way that it does not discriminate against any section of the 

community; 

 It is not established or conducted for the primary purpose of profit 

6.3 Membership and entry fees 

If the organisation applying for discretionary rate relief requires membership 

or an entry fee the Council will consider whether: 

 Membership is open to everyone regardless of race, ethnicity, sex, marital or 

parental status, sexual orientation, creed, disability, age, religious affiliation or 

political belief; 

 The subscription or fee is set at a level which is not prohibitively high and is 

affordable by most sections of the community; 

 Fee reductions are offered to certain groups, for example the under 18s and 

over 60s; 

 Membership is encouraged from the unemployed, young people not in 

employment, education or training, those of retirement age and people with 

disabilities. 

46



 
 

6.4 Where the applicant organisation requires membership, at least 50% of 

members should reside within the Tewkesbury Borough.  Proof of this will be 

required. 

6.5 The organisation must provide a copy of their constitution and copies of the 

latest two years of audited annual accounts where available. 

7. Discretionary Rural Rate Relief   

7.1 Applications for discretionary rural rate relief can be made by any business in 

a designated rural settlement area that are not eligible for mandatory rural 

rate relief.  The rateable value of the property must not be more than £16,500. 

7.2 Discretionary rural rate relief for ‘other rural businesses’ will be considered 

where: 

 The rateable value of the property is not more than £16,500; 

 The property is used for purposes which benefit the local community 

 The award of relief is in the interests of Tewkesbury Borough residents and its 

council taxpayers 

7.3 As a general guide, a ratepayer must not have enough resources available in 

unrestricted funds or reserves (i.e. those not being held for a specific purpose) 

to continue to operate for more than 12 months unless it can show how these 

additional reserves are to be used to benefit the local community. 

7.4 The following will be taken into consideration when assessing an application 

for discretionary rural rate relief: 

 The number of staff employed by the business who are resident in the 

community in which the business is located; and 

 Whether there are any other suppliers of the same goods or services which 

are easily accessible to residents in the rural settlement. 

7.5 Every application must be accompanied by the latest trading accounts and 

evidence of the proportion of expenditure attributable to business rates.  In 

determining the application, the Council will consider the financial viability of 

the business concerned, thereby having regard to the interests of council tax 

payers in general.  This will be balanced by the detrimental effect on the rural 

community should the business cease trading either as a direct or indirect 

result of not awarding relief. 

7.6 The amount awarded will be up to 100% of the total business rates payable. 

 

 

47



 
 

8. Hardship Relief 

8.1 The Council has discretion under Section 49 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 to grant relief of up to 100% where hardship is 

demonstrated.  Hardship relief can only be considered if it would be 

reasonable to do so in the interests of council taxpayers in general. 

8.2 Hardship relief will be awarded where the business is suffering from 

unexpected hardship which is outside of the normal risks associated with 

business.  Reduction or remission of business rates on the grounds of 

hardship will only be made in exceptional circumstances. 

8.3 Hardship relief is granted at the discretion of the Council which can reduce or 

remit the amount of business rates due provided it is satisfied that: 

 The ratepayer would sustain hardship if it did not do so; and 

 It is reasonable to do so having regard to the interests of its council tax 

payers. 

8.4 The following factors will be considered in assessing the application: 

 The test of hardship needs not be confined strictly to financial hardship.  All 

relevant factors affecting the ability of the business to meet its rates liability 

will be considered. 

 The interests of council tax payers in the area may be wider than direct 

financial interests.  Examples of this include where employment prospects in 

the area would be worsened by a company going out of business or the 

amenities of the area being reduced. 

 The ratepayer must provide evidence of hardship, for example a severe loss 

or marked decline in trade compared to similar periods in previous years. 

 The business must be able to show evidence of its viability for the future 

which is two years for these purposes. 

8.5 A business will not be considered for hardship relief in the following 

circumstances: 

 Where the business is profitable; 

 Where the business has experienced a minor loss in trade; 

 Where the drawings/remuneration of directors, partnerships or sole traders 

are of an amount not deemed reasonable by the Council; 

 Where the business is new and hardship relief is being requested to fund the 

initial progression of the business; 

 Where the property is empty; 

 Where similar goods or services are already being provided in the locality or 

within a reasonable distance. 

48



 
 

8.6 Prior to any award being made the business is expected to act to mitigate or 

alleviate their hardship by: 

 contacting the Council’s Economic Development Team; 

 considering other options such as renegotiating with its creditors; 

 having in place a business plan to address the hardship 

8.7 Applications for hardship relief shall be regarded as a last resort and will only 

be accepted after consideration of any other forms of rate relief for which the 

applicant may be eligible. 

8.8 The period and amount of any award will be determined on a case by case 

basis, but may be up to 100% of business rates liability. 

8.9 Hardship relief will only be granted for short periods of time and usually up to 

a maximum of 6 months. 

9. Properties partly occupied for a temporary period 

9.1 There may be times where a property is only partly occupied for a short period 

of time.  This may be due to a business relocating to a new property. In 

certain circumstances, the Council may use its discretion to award part 

occupied relief which is also known as Section 44a relief (Section 44a of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1988). 

9.2 In these circumstances the Council may request that the Valuation Office 

Agency apportions the rateable value of the property between occupied and 

unoccupied parts. 

9.3 Section 44a relief may be awarded in the following circumstances: 

  where the occupied and unoccupied parts of the property can easily be 

separately assessed; or 

 Where there are short term practical or financial difficulties in either occupying 

or vacating the premises. 

9.4 The part occupation must be for a temporary period only. 

9.5 Rate relief will not be awarded where the partial occupation is due to the 

normal day to day operation of the business, for example where a warehouse 

has despatched a large order and no longer needs to store stock. 

9.6 For the purposes of this policy a period of up to 6 months will be temporary.  

Periods of time exceeding 6 months will be treated as a permanent change 

and will not be eligible for partly occupied relief. 

9.7 Relief will not be awarded where it appears to the Council that part of the 

property is being kept empty for the sole purpose of claiming rate relief. 

49



 
 

9.8 Prior to an award being made, a visit to the premises will be made by a 

Council Officer to establish the exact area of the property that is empty.  The 

application must be supported by a plan of the property which clearly marks 

the boundary of the occupied and unoccupied parts.  This plan will be given to 

the Valuation Office Agency to apportion the rateable value. 

9.9 Further visits may be made to the property throughout the duration of the 

relief to establish that the property is still partly occupied. 

9.10 Further applications for part occupied relief may be considered where there is 

a change to the area which is unoccupied. 

9.11 Part occupied relief will end if one of the following applies: 

 The financial year comes to an end; 

 The end of the award; 

 Where part or all the unoccupied parts become occupied; 

 Where the whole of the property becomes unoccupied; 

 Where the liability for the property changes 

10. Local discounts and incentives 

10.1 The Council can grant business rates discounts and incentives entirely as it 

sees fit within the limits of primary legislation and European rules on State 

Aid.  These powers may be used to complement the strategic priorities and 

key objectives of the Council including increasing employment at strategic 

employment sites, investing in town centres and encouraging new business 

and investment to the Borough. 

10.2 Using the general exception from the State Aid rule where the aid is below the 

‘de minimis’ level, the Council will limit awards to maximum of €200,000 to 

any one business over any three-year period. 

10.3 Applications will be considered in accordance with section 10.1 and where 

applicants seek rate relief under Localism Act powers the application should 

include information about how the business complements the strategic 

priorities and key objectives of the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2019 

Subject: Grass Cutting Improvement Plan 

Report of: Head of Community Services 

Corporate Lead: Deputy Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Clean and Green Environment 

Number of Appendices: One 

 
 
 

Executive Summary: 

At its meeting on 27 November 2018, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee resolved to 
establish a Member Working Group to consider the improvements that had been made through 
the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan and to identify further actions that needed to be taken to 
ensure that suitable arrangements were in place for the 2019 growing season. 

The Working Group met three times to hear from officers and partners and to consider the 
grass cutting operations currently carried out by Ubico Ltd. 

The report and its recommendations were discussed and adopted by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 12 February 2019. 

The report of the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan Working Group, as adopted by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, is attached at Appendix A for consideration by the 
Executive Committee. 

Recommendation: 

That the Grass Cutting Scrutiny Review Report of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, attached at Appendix A - including recommendations 1-6 as set out at 
Paragraph 3.1 of this covering report - be APPROVED. 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To ensure that arrangements are in place for the 2019 grass growing season to prevent a 
recurrence of the problems that occurred in 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

51

Agenda Item 9



Resource Implications: 

There are no direct resource implications arising from the report at this time, although future 
aspects of consideration could have resource implications. Should resource needs arise - 
either revenue or capital - these will be subject to a further report and consideration in the 
wider context of the Council’s financial operating environment.  

It should also be noted that the Borough Council continues to subsidise the cutting of County 
Highways-owned land in 2019/20 at an estimated cost of £44,000. The sustainability of 
maintaining this position in the longer term will need to be considered in light of pressures on 
the grounds maintenance service and the significant deficit within the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 

Legal Implications: 

The Highways authority has a duty to maintain verges for safety reasons.  The Borough 
Council, via its contractor Ubico, currently undertakes this work across Tewkesbury Borough.  
The Borough Council also undertakes this work on behalf of a number of Parish Councils.  
Whilst no specific duty falls to District Councils to cut grass, the level of which is at the 
discretion of the individual Council, it stands to reason that, if an authority has a responsibility 
to keep its land free from litter and detritus, then it needs to maintain the land to a sensible 
level in order to do this effectively. 

 

Risk Management Implications: 

Grass cutting is a high profile service and any service failings impact on the reputation of the 
Council. 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

Performance of the Key Performance Indicators identified in the report at Appendix A will be 
reported regularly to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of the Ubico performance 
reports. 

Environmental Implications:  

Whilst some environmentalists would argue that a natural environment is better for insects and 
wildlife, it stands to reason that if the Council wishes to maintain a safe and attractive 
environment then a programme of grass cutting has a positive impact on the health and 
wellbeing of the population.   

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 Following an unacceptable level of complaints being received about grass cutting from 
members of the public in the early part of 2018, the Executive Committee expressed 
concern about the level and quality of grass cutting across the borough.  In response, a 
Grass Cutting Improvement Plan was adopted by the Executive Committee with 
responsibility for monitoring given to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 

 

 

52



1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had detailed discussions about the grass cutting 
service, and the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan, at its meetings on 17 July and 4 
September 2018. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee asked for a further report on the 
plan monitoring and implementation to be submitted to its meeting in February 2019.   

1.3 It was, however, apparent from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee discussions on the 
Improvement Plan that additional work needed to be done, particularly in relation to the 
future standard of the service, number of cuts, level of cut in different areas, resources 
etc.  Member involvement in this work was considered important and therefore the 
Committee established a small Working Group. 

2.0 GRASS CUTTING IMPROVEMENT PLAN WORKING GROUP REVIEW 

2.1 The Working Group met on three occasions and considered the improvements that had 
already been implemented as a result of the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan including: 

 grass cutting maps were now up to date and broadly accurate; 

 grass cutting rounds were in the process of being put into a logical order to   
ensure the best use of the crews time, therefore minimising travelling time; 

 all equipment was now included on a maintenance programme; and 

 increased and effective supervision is in place. 

2.2 The Working Group also heard from partners at Ubico representing the Tewkesbury 
Borough contract and the West Oxfordshire contract; this allowed Members to compare 
the level of resource afforded to these two contracts and to contrast the outcomes that 
were achieved. 

3.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

3.1 The Working Group presented its findings to the Overview and Scutiny Committee on 12 
February 2019 which included the following recommendations: 

1. That Ubico be required to: 

 undertake an audit of all equipment to ensure it is fit for purpose prior to 
 commencement of the grass cutting season; and 

 make better use of resources/staffing to ensure the workforce is being 
 used to full capacity together with giving consideration to introducing 
 apprenticeships in order to provide succession planning and resilience. 

2. That electronic mapping be made a corporate priority to enable IT to complete 
this work by February 2019. 

3. That a small piece of land currently maintained by Tewkesbury Borough Council 
on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council be identified for cutting twice yearly, 
as opposed to the current 8-10 times per year, and monitored to understand the 
likely impact of reducing the number of cuts in other parts of the borough in the 
future. 

4. That, in view of the improvements that have been made in terms of round 
efficiency, mapping and supervision/management, to continue to provide the 
grounds maintenance service for 2019/20 on the same basis as the current year 
and to closely monitor delivery throughout. 

5. That a Member Group be established with effect from the new Council with 
Terms of Reference set out at Appendix 4 of the Grass Cutting Scrutiny Review 
Report. 

53



 

6. That the level of additional land that the Council has adopted should be reviewed 
periodically and, where appropriate, considered be given to increasing the 
grounds maintenance budget. 

3.2 The Working Group had also developed a suite of Key Performance Indicators for 
consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as detailed below: 

 100% of grass cutting rounds will be completed in line with round schedules; 

 any deviation from grass cutting rounds must be reported to Tewkesbury Borough 
Council in advance, or reported by the Operational Manager on same day with 
reason i.e. 100% deviations reported within 24 hours); 

 all areas must be litter picked prior to grass being cut; 

 grass cutting must be quality checked and 10 areas inspected at least once per 
month to check it is being cut to the appropriate standard i.e. % measure of A or 
B grade (Appendix 3); 

 where an area cannot be cut, or cannot be cut to a suitable standard, the council 
must be notified by the following day along with a suggestion for remedial action; 

 all equipment must be suitably maintained in line with the maintenance schedule 
and, where needed, any new equipment should be available with 48 hours of 
breakdown - any significant purchases (over £5,000) must be approved by the 
council. 

3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee debated the Working Group report in detail before 
resolving: 

That the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan Working Group Report be adopted and 
recommended to the Executive Committee for approval, subject to an amendment to 
correct a typographical error at Page No. 42 as follows: Meeting 1 – 6 December 2019 
2018. 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

4.1 Not applicable. 

5.0 CONSULTATION  

5.1 The Working Group consulted with various partners whilst undertaking its work. 

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

6.1 Not applicable. 

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

7.1  Not applicable. 

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

8.1 Not applicable. 

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

9.1 Considered as part of the work of the Working Group. 

54



10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

10.1 Considered as part of the work of the Working Group. 

11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

11.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 27 November 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer:  Head of Community Services 

 01684 272259 Peter.Tonge@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices:  A –  Report of the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan Working Group 

 

55

mailto:Peter.Tonge@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Grass cutting
scrutiny review

February 2019

Appendix A

56



Tewkesbury Borough Council

Grass cutting scrutiny review

Introduction 1

Background 1

Methodology 1

Meetings 1

Recommendations 4

Key Performance Indicators 5

Conclusion 5

Acknowledgements 5

Appendix one - Terms of reference 6

Appendix two - Grass cutting improvement plan 7

Appendix three - Grass cutting standards 11

Appendix four - Grounds maintenance member 15

group terms of reference

contents

57



1

Introduction 

Following an unacceptable level of complaints
received about grass cutting from members of the
public in the early part of 2018, a number of elected
Members expressed concern about the level and
quality of grass cutting. Whilst it was acknowledged
that the unusual weather had contributed to the
severity of this event, councillors did not think that
sufficient remedial action was being taken.
Accordingly an improvement plan was subsequently
approved by the Executive Committee the
implementation of which to be monitored by the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Background

Tewkesbury Borough Council is responsible for
grass cutting on its own land and has a contract
arrangement with Gloucestershire County Highways
and some parish councils to cut various areas of
grass across the borough.Tewkesbury Borough
Council has a contract with Ubico to deliver this. The
majority of the grass that the council contracts
Ubico to cut on behalf of Gloucestershire County
Highways is within housing developments located in
areas across the borough such as the Wheatpieces
estate, Newtown; Bishops Cleeve; Winchcombe;
Longford; Ashleworth; and Gotherington. Tewkesbury
Borough Council only cut roundabouts and trunk
road verges where they neighbour a development.
On highway verges - such as along the A38 south of
Tewkesbury, the Tewkesbury Road into Cheltenham
and around Junction 9 of the M5 – Gloucestershire
County Highways currently has a contract with Amey
to undertake the work.

Purpose

At its meeting on 29 November 2018, the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee resolved to establish a
Member working group to consider the
improvements that had already been made through
delivery of the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan
(attached at Appendix 2) in order to provide
Members with confidence that suitable action had
been taken to deal with the problem that had
occurred in the 2018 growing season. In addition, the
working group would consider further actions that
needed to be taken to ensure that suitable
arrangements were in place for the 2019 growing
season.

Methodology

The working group would meet up to three times in
order to:
• consider the efficiencies already made by Ubico;
• receive information from Ubico about current

levels of activity within the borough as well as in
West Oxfordshire District Council and
Gloucestershire County Council;

• consider a variety of recommendations for the
2019 growing season; and

• propose a number of Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) which Ubico would report on
regularly going forward.

Terms of Reference for the working group are 
attached in full at Appendix 1.

Meetings of the working group

Meeting 1 - 6 December 2018
The working group considered the Grass Cutting 
Improvement Plan and noted that the majority of the

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Grass cutting scrutiny review 58



2

13 actions had been completed. One of the
significant actions related to the production and
accuracy of grass cutting maps that showed the
areas of Tewkesbury Borough Council land and
Gloucestershire County Council land that needed to
be cut. Members noted that areas where ownership
of land was unknown had predominantly been
resolved with one notable exception in Mitton.
Tewkesbury Borough Council had committed to
continue maintaining the land in Mitton until the
issue with the owners was resolved.

Particular improvements that were noted were as
follows:
• grass cutting maps were now up to date and 

broadly accurate;
• grass cutting rounds were in the process of 

being put into a logical order to ensure the best 
use of the crews’ time, therefore minimising 
travelling time;

• all equipment was now included in a 
maintenance programme; and

• increased and effective supervision was in 
place.

Members were informed that approximately 355
acres of Tewkesbury Borough Council land was cut
and maintained by Ubico – the equivalent of 270
football pitches. In addition to this, the council cut
and maintained approximately 110,000 square
metres of verges for Gloucestershire County
Highways; generally this was in housing estates as
opposed to main roads.

The working group was presented with hard copies
of the maps for consideration. As well as grass
cutting in these areas there were a significant
amount of other works which needed to be carried
out which were predominantly in relation to other
grounds maintenance, such as cutting back hedges
and trees which was undertaken outside of the grass

cutting season due to the bird nesting, and tree work
which could only be carried out in the winter months.

Members also considered the service specification
which stated that Ubico should maintain the grass in
the borough but set out no standards or quality that
should be adhered to. Members felt that this should
be addressed in the longer term by a variation to the
contract and in the short term by the introduction of
some Key Performance Indicators.

The Head of Community Services briefed the
working group on the current budget for grounds
maintenance which for the 2018/19 budget year was
approximately £368,000. Gloucestershire County
Council paid Tewkesbury Borough Council
approximately £5,000 to cut highway verges in the
borough despite this costing Tewkesbury Borough
Council in the region of £54,000. The Head of
Community Services mentioned that the income for
the County Council land would be increased to
£10,000 in 2019/20 which would still result in a
Tewkesbury Borough Council subsidy of £44,000. It
was also noted that the problems encountered in the
2018 grass cutting season had resulted in an
overspend of £72,000 due to the need for additional
resources.

Representations

The working group heard from the following invited
representatives:
• Gloucestershire County Highways
• Ubico Operational Manager – Cheltenham 

Borough Council
• Ubico Operational Manager – Tewkesbury 

Borough Council
• Ubico Operational Manager – West Oxfordshire 

District Council

The Ubico Operational Manager from West

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Grass cutting scrutiny review 59



Oxfordshire gave a presentation outlining the way
that the service was delivered and managed within
that area. Members noted that the budget for that
service was approximately £600,000 but they had
considerably more staff (including seasonal staff
during the cutting season) and resources.

The working group was particularly impressed with
how the grounds maintenance fleet was managed
via a lease contract which meant that there was
always spare resource to cover breakdowns and
additional service needs. Members learned that
there was a formal service specification that Ubico
and West Oxfordshire District Council had signed up
to which was managed and monitored by that
council. The specification set out that the grass
would be cut between 14 and 18 times a year as
necessary. The Ubico Operational Manager from
West Oxfordshire also discussed the mapping
system used which linked maps to cutting rounds
and allowed for improved contract management of
the service. Members explored key differences
between West Oxfordshire District Council’s service
and Tewkesbury Borough Council’s service which
was, in the main, the greater number of staff at West
Oxfordshire District Council, which allowed for
greater flexibility, the contract for the equipment and
fleet, which allowed for greater resilience when
something went wrong; and the mapping system
that linked maps to grass cutting rounds.

The working group heard from the Gloucestershire
County Highways Representative who explained that
the County Council required highway land to be cut
to a safety standard which generally amounted to
two cuts per year in most areas and the standard fee
payable to contractors for that work was 4p per
square metre. On main roads (A & B roads) the grass
would generally only be cut back to approximately
one metre from the roadside to ensure visibility for
drivers. The working group also heard about
assessments of alternatives to grass cutting being

3

undertaken by the County Council on rural verges to
ensure a greater mix of biodiversity in these areas.

Members discussed the use of equipment and
queried whether the correct equipment was on hand
at Ubico and whether it was fit for purpose and
properly maintained. The Ubico Operational Manager
for Tewkesbury Borough Council assured Members
that all equipment was maintained by Ubico at the
depot in Cheltenham and there was a programme to
check and replace equipment prior to the start of the
grass cutting season.

The working group found the information from
partners useful and felt there would be value in
exploring some of the ideas in more depth as longer
term actions, for instance, the lease for vehicles and
equipment and expansion of the current mapping
system. 

Meeting 2 - 11 December 2018
The working group considered the information that
had been gathered from the previous session and
agreed that the efficiencies that had been made so
far on the grass cutting methodology were positive.

The working group discussed in detail whether to
continue the grass cutting of verges in line with the
County Council requirements and agreed that for the
2019/20 growing season they would prefer that
these areas were cut at the same frequency as
previous years but that a small, inconspicuous area
should only be cut twice, as per the County Council
requirements and that this area should be monitored
so that Members could see the impact. (Rec 3)

The working group considered the fact that Ubico
had asked for additional funding for the 2019/20
growing season but considered there was little value
in increasing the budget without assessing the
current system improvements. Rather they felt that
the improvement to date should have an impact and,

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Grass cutting scrutiny review 60



4

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Grass cutting scrutiny review

if properly managed and monitored, this would
achieve the desired outcomes in the short term.
Members also agreed that Key Performance
Indicators should be agreed and monitored regularly.
(Rec 4)

The working group also agreed that the digitisation
of the grass cutting maps alongside the cutting
rounds should be undertaken rather than the current
paper-based maps. (Rec 2)

As well as actions that could be delivered for the
2019/20 cutting season, there were a number of
longer term actions including investigating the
arrangements for equipment hire and sharing of
equipment across Ubico contracts; reviewing the
approach to cutting County Highways verges;
introducing digitised mapping; and working better
with partners. (Rec. 5)

The working group agreed that a full audit of grass
cutting equipment should be undertaken to ensure
that it was fit for purpose and that all resources
(including staffing) for the grounds maintenance
contract were being fully utilised. (Rec 1)

Meeting 3 - 17 January 2019
The working group considered the draft report,
recommendations and Key Performance Indicators
and agreed that this would form a good basis for
monitoring the performance of Ubico’s grass cutting
in 2019.

The working group discussed whether the budget
available for grounds maintenance should be
increased; however, being mindful of the council’s
financial position, the majority of Members felt that it
would be prudent to monitor the impact of the
improvements that had already been made before
taking that decision. There was also a brief debate

about the need to increase the base budget for
grounds maintenance to reflect additional land
added to the contract by way of adopted housing
estates etc. It was agreed this should be reviewed
periodically and the grounds maintenance budget
increased as appropriate. (Rec 6)

Recommendations:

1. That Ubico be required to:
• undertake an audit of all equipment to ensure it 

is fit for purpose prior to commencement of the 
grass cutting season; and 

• make better use of resources/staffing to ensure 
the workforce is being used to full capacity 
together with giving consideration to introducing 
apprenticeships in order to provide succession 
planning and resilience.

2. That electronic mapping be made a corporate 
priority to enable IT to complete this work by 
February 2019.

3. That a small piece of land currently maintained 
by Tewkesbury Borough Council on behalf of 
Gloucestershire County Council be identified for 
cutting twice yearly, as opposed to the current 8-
10 times per year, and monitored to understand 
the likely impact of reducing the number of cuts 
in other parts of the borough in the future.

4. That in view of the improvements that have been
made in terms of round efficiency, mapping and 
supervision/management, to continue to provide
the grounds maintenance service for 2019/20 on
the same basis as the current year and to closely
monitor delivery throughout.

5. That a member group be established with effect 
from the new council with Terms of Reference 
attached at appendix four.

61



5

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Grass cutting scrutiny review

6. That the level of additional land that the council 
has adopted should be reviewed periodically and,
where appropriate, consideration be given to 
increasing the grounds maintenance budget.

Proposed Key Performance
Indicators:

• 100% of grass cutting rounds will be 
completed in line with round schedules;

• any deviation from grass cutting rounds must be
reported to Tewkesbury Borough Council in 
advance, or reported by the Operational Manager
on same day with reason i.e. 100% deviations 
reported within 24 hours);  

•  all areas must be litter picked prior to grass 
being cut;

•  grass cutting must be quality checked and 10 
areas inspected at least once per month to 
check it is being cut to the appropriate standard 
i.e. % measure of A or B grade (Appendix 3);

•  where an area cannot be cut, or cannot be cut to
a suitable standard, the council must be notified 
by the following day along with a suggestion for 
remedial action;

•  all equipment must be suitably maintained in 
line with the maintenance schedule and, where 
needed, any new equipment should be available 
with 48 hours of breakdown - any significant 
purchases (over £5,000) must be approved by 
the council.

Conclusion

The working group consider that the information they
have received, both from Tewkesbury Borough
Council Officers and from partner organisations, has
been open and honest, and it has been a good
learning exercise and a useful review to undertake.

The report will be presented to the Executive
Committee for consideration and, if adopted, the
recommendations and Key Performance Indicators
implemented and monitored by the Overview &
Scrutiny Committee, via the member group proposed
at Appendix 4.

Acknowledgements.

The Chair of the working group expressed the view
that the review of grass cutting in the borough had
been useful and productive exercise, resulting in
recommendations and performance indicators which
should minimise the likelihood of an event on the
same scale as the 2018/19 grass cutting season.
The working group would like to thank those that
participated in the review in particular the following:

• Gloucestershire County Highways Representative
• Ubico Operational Manager – Cheltenham 

Borough Council
• Ubico Operational Manager – Tewkesbury 

Borough Council
• Ubico Operational Manager – West Oxfordshire 

District Council

Members of working group - Councillors: K J
Cromwell (Chair), D T Foyle, J R Mason (Lead
Member for Clean and Green Environment), H C
McLain, M G Sztymiak and M J Williams (Vice-Chair).

62



APPENDIX 1

Grass cutting improvement plan working group terms of reference

1. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

To work with the Head of Community Services to implement the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan approved by
the Executive Committee at its meeting on 6 June 2018. 

2. CONSTITUTION AND POWERS

i. The working group shall comprise four members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
the Lead Member for Clean and Green Environment.

ii. The quorum of the working group shall be three members.
iii. The working group shall, at its first meeting, appoint a Chair; and Vice-Chair, if necessary.
iv. Substitution arrangements will not apply.

3. FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

The working group will meet as required in order to produce a detailed report on progress in implementing the
Grass Cutting Improvement Plan for the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 12 February 2019.

4. TERMS OF REFERENCE

i. To monitor the Grass Cutting Improvement Plan.
ii. To hear from partners and other councils as necessary to make recommendations on the 

number of cuts required, the level of cut across different areas of the borough and the spend 
required to achieve this.

iii. To ensure arrangements are in place for a suitable grass cutting service for the borough when 
the 2019 season commences via the delivery of the Improvement Plan.

iv. In conjunction with the Head of Community Services, to develop specific Key Performance 
Indicators to monitor the grass cutting service.

5. DELEGATED POWERS

To prepare a monitoring report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in February 2019 with any service
recommendations being made to the Executive Committee, and council if additional financial resources are
required. 

6Grass cutting scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough Council

63



Appendix 2 
GROUNDS MAINTENANCE (Grass cutting) ACTION PLAN January 2019 

Project managers – Head of Community Services (TBC), Head of Operations - Ubico (Ubico) 

Action Target Date Responsible Officer Status Comments 
1. Introduction of a case management 

system for reporting of work and the 
management of staff and 
communication to the public.  

December 2017 Head of Community 
Services - 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council/ Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico

✔ Complete. This case management 
system now allows us to log calls 
regarding grounds maintenance and 
track progress on works outstanding 
and work completed.  This gives us a 
much better oversight of works 
completed and significant more 
information to better communicate with 
the public. 

2. Introduction of clear and accountable 
KPI’s including confirmation of 
completion of work timescales as 
outlined below: 

 Urgent’ to be actioned within
24 hours as there is either risk
to people or property or a
reputational risk to Ubico or
TBC

 ‘High risk’ to be actioned within
2 weeks of being reported

 ‘Medium risk’ to be actioned
within 3 months of being
reported

 ‘Low risk’ to be actioned within
6 months of being reported

March 2018 Head of Community 
Services - 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council/ Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico

✔ These KPIs relate mainly to 
programmed and urgent winter works, 
have been agreed with Ubico and set 
standards for how Ubico will respond 
to requests from TBC. 

7

64



3. A further round of new maps to be 
issued to ensure that all crews have 
all relevant and up to date information. 

04 June 2018 Head of Community 
Services  – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council 

✔ This is to address inconsistencies in 
the mapping sets, discovered by 
carrying out checks. 

There is an acceptance that this is an 
ongoing piece of work as ownership of 
land changes and land is adopted, 
however we are confident that the 
current maps best reflect the most up 
to date situation. 

4 (a). Actively seek out third parties of land 
historically maintained by TBC and 
negotiate a speedy solution to the 
maintenance of that land. 

July 2018 Head of Community 
Services  – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council / Grounds 
Maintenance & 
Project Officer 

✔ A number of 3rd parties of land have 
already been identified and 
arrangements made to maintain the 
land.   

4 (b). Require 3rd parties to maintain their 
land or enter into a contract with them 
to maintain on their behalf. 

February 2019 Head of Community 
Services  – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council / Grounds 
Maintenance & 
Project Officer 

 Land that we know is not in the 
ownership of TBC or GCC or third 
parties has now been identified and 
negotiations are in place as to who 
maintains them in future.   

5. Weekly client meetings to update TBC 
of Ubico’s progress and TBC to 
discuss issues with the grass cutting 
implemented March 2018 

June 2018 & 
ongoing. 

Grounds Maintenance 
Project Officer - 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council/ Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
– Ubico.

✔ Weekly client / contract monitoring 
meetings allow issues of nature and 
quality of work to be discussed. 

Meetings now happen weekly and will 
continue until the review is complete. 

6 (a). Regular monitoring checks by TBC 
officer 

June 2018 & 
ongoing 

Head of Community 
Services  – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council / Grounds 
Maintenance & 

✔
 

To ensure that the crews are carrying 
out the cutting according to the maps.  
Once crews have completed the back 
log these check will be extended to 
quality checks. 

8

65



Project Officer 
6 (b). Ongoing monitoring checks carried 

out by Officers on an ad-hoc basis. 
Ongoing until 
grass cutting 
season ends. 

Head of Community 
Services  – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council / Grounds 
Maintenance & 
Project Officer 

✔ Ubico notify TBC every day of the 
areas that are being maintained that 
day.  Officers carry out ad-hoc spot 
checks to ensure that the crews are 
where they are supposed to be and 
that work is being carried out as 
agreed. 

7. Weekly member updates with 
schedule for the following week of 
areas being cut. 

June 2018 Head of Community 
Services - 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council 

✔
 

All Councillors were informed regularly 
as to progress on grass cutting until 
Ubico had had improved the situation.  
Further updates are by way of the 
O&S Committee. 

8 (a) Develop quality KPIs to monitor 
quality of cuts. 

July 2018 Head of Community 
Services – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council 

✔
 

Short term KPIs were developed to 
manage the urgent needs at that time 
and consisted of daily updates and 
regular improvement plan meeting.  
These have been delivered. 

8 (b) Develop longer term KPI’s in line with 
the service specification. 

March 2019 Head of Community 
Services – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council / Head of 
Operations (Ubico) 

✔ KPIs developed by the grass cutting 
working group. 

9 (a) Tracking devices fitted to all vehicles. June 2018 Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico

✔
 

Tracking data allows officers to query 
historic information in the case of 
complaints and health & safety issues. 

9 (b) Tracking devices fitted to all mowing 
equipment. 

March 2019 Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico

TBC Consideration is now being given as to 
whether tracking equipment can be 
fitted to all mobile mowing equipment. 

10 (a) Introduction of an electronic mapping 
system for all crews to access. 

June 2018 Head of Community 
Services – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council. 

✔
 

This technology is in place for tree 
inspections.   

9

66



10 (b) Introduction of an electronic mapping 
system for all crews to access. 

December 2018 Head of Community 
Services – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council. 

 Basic electronic mapping will be in 
place by February 2019.  Exploring 
options for more sophisticated 
mapping in line with an in-cab 
technology project. 

11. Ubico to introduce grass cutting round 
sheets for crews to sign work off on a 
weekly basis for contract monitoring.  

August 2018 Head of Community 
Services – 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council. 

✔
 

Sign off sheets are now in place and 
when the crew completes a piece of 
work they sign off that it is completed.  
This allows better accountability as 
supervisors can check on the work 
and ensure that it is completed to a 
reasonable standard. 

12 (a) Ubico to review the rounds to ensure 
they are efficient for the movement of 
staff and equipment  

August 2018 Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico / Head of
Operations - Ubico

✔
 

Better route mapping will allow Ubico 
to maximise the use of resources. 
Rounds have been reviewed. 

12 (b) Ubico to implement new rounds to 
ensure they are efficient for the 
movement of staff and equipment  

February 2019 Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico / Head of
Operations - Ubico

 New rounds have been created and 
will be trialled during the first cut and 
any amendments needed will be 
implemented 

13. Ubico to establish any resource or 
equipment requirements along with a 
business case to ensure the future 
efficient operation of the service for 
TBC to consider.  

January 2019 Head of Community 
Services - 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Council Head of 
Operations - Ubico / 
Landscape 
Operations Supervisor 
- Ubico.

 This has been completed as part of 
the improvement project plan work. 

This is being also undertaken as part 
of the longer term improvements and 
will be updated into a full project plan 
for this work. 

10

67



Grass Cutting Standards 

A Grade (Good) 

No litter 

Grass cutting kept on top of 

Minimal clippings due to being cut regularly 

No weeds 

Flat ground 

Well maintained generally e.g no holes in ground, seeded 

Appendix 3

11
68



B Grade (Acceptable) 

Minimal grass cuttings 

Minimal weeds 

Regularly cut  

No more than 2 pieces of litter 

12
69



Grade C (Unacceptable) 

Grass longer 

More grass cuttings remain due to grass being too long when cut 

A few weeds 

Possibly uneven ground 

No more than 2 pieces of litter 

13
70



Grade D (Poor) 

Grass is of an unacceptable length  

Weeds present  

A lot of grass clippings left after cut 

Overgrown around obstacles e.g street signs, trees. 

Takes longer to cut  

Litter present in quantities 

14
71



APPENDIX 4

Grounds Maintenance Member Group terms of reference

1. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

To work with the Head of Community Services to oversee the delivery of the council’s grounds maintenance
service and to consider and develop a number of longer-term projects in relation to the service. 

2. CONSTITUTION AND POWERS

i. The group shall comprise four members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Lead Member
for Clean and Green Environment.

ii. The quorum of the working group shall be three members.
iii. The group shall, at its first meeting, appoint a Chair; and Vice-Chair, if necessary.
iv. Substitution arrangements will not apply.
v. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will review the Terms of Reference on an annual basis and make 

a recommendation to the Executive Committee as to whether there is a continuing role for the group.

3. FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS

The group will meet as and when required.

4. TERMS OF REFERENCE

i. To oversee the delivery of the council’s grounds maintenance service.
ii. To consider and develop a number of potential longer-term projects including:
- exploring the potential for introducing a hire contract for equipment;
- sharing equipment across Ubico partners;
- revising the council’s approach in respect of maintaining Gloucestershire County Council land;
- further digitalisation of maps and routes to include site hazards etc; and
- working with partners, including parish councils and housing associations, to look for opportunities to 

optimise efficiency.

5. DELEGATED POWERS

To report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as and when required.
All issues that require a decision will be reported to the Executive Committee and/or Council.

15Grass cutting scrutiny review

Tewkesbury Borough Council

72



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2019 

Subject: Development of a Strategic Planning Framework for 
Gloucestershire County to 2050 and Beyond 

Report of: Head of Development Services 

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Leader of the Council/Lead Member for Built Environment 

Number of Appendices: One 

 
 

Executive Summary: 

The purpose of this report is to update Members on progress to date in respect of the creation 
of a Strategic Planning Framework for Gloucestershire County to 2050 and beyond and to 
make recommendations on the way forward on the preparation of a non-statutory Statement of 
Common Ground.   

The Statement of Common Ground (SCG) would be entered into by the six local planning 
authorities, the County Council and the GFirst LEP. The SCG supports the opportunity for 
individual authorities to collectively realise their economic growth potential, attract 
infrastructure investment, and deliver on their development needs by working together to set 
out an agreed long-term view of growth in Gloucestershire. It would also allow the 
consideration of cross boundary needs where appropriate demonstrating to potential funders 
that, on strategic matters, the authorities, and where applicable their partners, have common 
objectives and a collective mechanism for promoting those objectives. The formal approval of 
the Statement of Common Ground will remain the responsibility of the constituent local 
authorities and GFirst LEP. 

This report seeks approval of the principle of all SCG partners cooperating to develop a 
Strategic Planning Framework for the county on the basis of a SCG. 

Recommendation: 

To RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL that it agrees to work in partnership with the five other 
Local Planning Authorities, Gloucestershire County Council and the GFirst LEP to 
develop a broad Strategic Planning Framework for Gloucestershire, to 2050 and 
beyond, via the preparation of a ‘Statement of Common Ground’.  

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To ensure effective, coordinated spatial planning for the long-term future of Gloucestershire 
through collective working to prepare a strategic framework for the County to 2050 and beyond 
which will avoid duplication of effort, potential conflicts and deliver cost efficiencies through 
joint commissioning. 

 

 

73

Agenda Item 10



Resource Implications: 

There are no direct resource implications arising from this report, other than the continued 
funding of the Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Coordinator which is funded on a two-year 
partnership basis between all Councils.  There will be further costs much of which will be 
associated with existing plan development. Any additional budget requirements will be brought 
forward for consideration as they arise. 

Legal Implications: 

Section 33A(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which is in respect of the 
duty to co-operate in relation to the planning of sustainable development provides that each 
person who is a local planning authority, County Council and certain other bodies (such as the 
Environment Agency and Homes and Communities Agency) must co-operate with each other 
and local enterprise partnerships in maximising the effectiveness with which certain activities 
are undertaken. These activities are the preparation of local development plans (including 
development plan documents) and any activities that can reasonably be considered to prepare 
the way for/support for such activities so far as relating to a strategic matter. 

A strategic matter for the duty is sustainable development or use of land that has or would 
have a significant impact on at least two planning areas and sustainable development or use of 
land in a two-tier area if the development or use is a county matter or has or would have a 
significant impact on a county matter. 

Under sections 19(1B) to (1C) of the 2004 Act, each local planning authority must identify 
strategic priorities for development and use of land in the authority’s area and policies to 
address those priorities must be set out in the local authority’s development plan documents 
(taken as a whole). 

Paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out the matters that 
strategic policies should provide for and under paragraph 27 it is stated that in order to 
demonstrate effective and ongoing joint working, strategic policymaking authorities should 
prepare and maintain one or more statements of common ground, documenting the cross-
boundary matters being addressed and progress in cooperating to address these. These 
should be produced using the approach set out in national planning guidance and be made 
publicly available throughout the plan-making process to provide transparency. 

When soundness of plans are tested under the NPPF (2019) one element of this under 
paragraph 35 is that the plan should be deliverable over the plan period, and based on 
effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather 
than deferred, as evidenced by the SCG.  Therefore, although not a statutory document, SCG 
dealing with these matters will be expected when plans are at examination.  The formal 
approval of the SCG will remain the responsibility of each of the parties to it. 

Risk Management Implications: 

Failure to maximise the opportunity created through the creation of an effective Strategic 
Planning Framework for Gloucestershire County would mean that opportunities for effective 
strategic development discussions are lost.  The opportunity to save resources through joint 
commissioning of an effective evidence base may also be lost.    

Performance Management Follow-up: 

The Council will regularly monitor the effectiveness of the SCG as part of the planning and 
development process.  The Leaders Board will receive regular updates on progress being 
made.  Individual Councils will similarly receive reports as and where appropriate either for 
decision-making purposes or to update on issues arising out of the creation of a strategic 
planning framework (in the form of a SCG). 

74



Environmental Implications:  

The SCG will contain matters relating to the environmental, social and economic outputs of the 
area.  In itself it will not be subject to the same requirements for a Sustainability Appraisal in 
the same way a Statutory Planning Document does.  A Sustainability Appraisal that 
encompasses a Strategic Environmental Assessment as required by EU Directive 
(2001/42/EC) will still be required to be produced for the local plan documents. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 It has been recognised for some time that a better coordinated approach to long term 
spatial planning in Gloucestershire would be beneficial. Such an approach could provide 
an agreed broad vision for the future growth of the County which would support local 
plan development and avoid duplication, potential conflict between plans and fulfil the 
duty to cooperate. This partnership approach could also better coordinate infrastructure 
requirements and associated funding whilst delivering potential savings through joint 
commissioning of development plan evidence bases.   

1.2 These advantages can be gained by working together and by cooperating effectively, 
however the responsibility for spatial planning decision making will remain with the local 
plan authorities individually. 

1.3 In June the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) appointed the 
Strategic Planning Coordinator for the County. The role of this post is to work towards 
better planning coordination in the County. The Gloucestershire Strategic Planning 
Coordination project has now been running for six months.  Work to date has focussed 
upon: 

 Establishing the governance and working arrangements for the project including the 
setting up of the Leaders Board (which consists of Leaders of all the District Councils, 
the Leader of the County Council and LEP representatives) and associated officer 
group under the auspices of the GEGJC.  The governance structure is shown at 
Appendix 1. 

 Synergising the relationship between this piece of work and the continuing work on 
the existing local plans. 

 Reviewing the available evidence and developing the means of supplementing the 
evidence base through collaborative working. 

 Reviewing existing joint planning arrangements and partnerships, for example 
evidence commissioning. 

Considering the type and nature of ‘framework document’ for Gloucestershire. 

2.0 WORK TO DATE 

2.1 The Leaders Board has been meeting on a regular basis since its inception in June 
2018.  One of the key discussions that has been had is the consideration of the type of 
plan that is appropriate for Gloucestershire.  These discussions have concluded that 
whilst there are other methods of securing a Strategic Planning Framework and its 
associated benefits the most appropriate model for Strategic Planning in Gloucestershire 
is considered to be the non-statutory Statement of Common Ground (SCG). 

75



 

2.2 The SCG is a Statement which has been established by the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2018 and will be required to be produced and agreed between the six local 
planning authorities, the County Council, GFirst LEP and other key parties as 
appropriate. It will set out the agreed position in respect of cross boundary strategic 
planning issues, demonstrating that the ‘Duty to Cooperate’ has been fulfilled, but it can 
also be used to set out a long term agreed vision for the broad location of development 
within the county.   

2.3 Following consideration of the best way to deliver a long term strategic planning 
framework, the Leaders Board consider that a joint SCG would be the best mechanism 
to deliver a coordinated approach agreed by all partners. This will allow local planning 
authorities to continue to deliver current and future spatial plans and policies, but will also 
allow the local planning authorities to work together to determine a coordinated approach 
to future strategic planning in the county and maximise resource efficiency. 

2.4 This will also allow the local authorities to look beyond their plan periods and link into 
conversations regarding Gloucestershire 2050 to seek to meet aspirations for growth and 
infrastructure.  Furthermore, effective cooperation enables strategic policy-making 
authorities and infrastructure providers to establish whether additional strategic cross-
boundary infrastructure is required. The statement would be evidence that the strategic 
policy-making authorities have sought agreement with the relevant bodies and, in relation 
to the Community Infrastructure Levy, it can form part of the evidence base for the 
Infrastructure Funding Statement.   

3.0 STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND (SCG) 

3.1 The NPFF 2018 sets out the details expected to be covered within a SCG these are as 
follows: 

1. A spatial portrait and narrative of the geography of the area and the key strategic 
matters being addressed by the statement, for example meeting the housing 
need and economic growth for the area and key environmental issues such as 
flood protection, climate change impact reduction, air quality etc.; 

2. Details of the plan-making authorities responsible for joint working detailed in the 
statement, along with any others engaged in the process and the associated 
governance arrangements for the cooperation process, including how the 
statement will be maintained;  

3. The housing requirements in any adopted and (if known) emerging strategic 
policies relevant to housing within the area covered by the statement as well as a 
view of the future growth necessary; 

4. An understanding of the distribution of housing and economic growth needs in the 
area as agreed through the plan-making process, or the process for agreeing the 
distribution of need (including unmet need) across the area; 

5. A record of where agreements have (or have not) been reached on key strategic 
matters, including the process for reaching agreements on these; and 

6. Any additional strategic matters to be addressed by the statement which have not 
already been addressed, including a brief description how the statement relates 
to any other SCG ground covering all or part of the same area. 

3.2 The detail and scope in the statement is expected to be proportionate to the matters 
being addressed but would seek to tackle the key issues facing the County and the 
aspirations for strategic growth and infrastructure requirements. 

76



 

3.3 In addition to the NPPF requirements, the Leaders Board consider that a SCG for 
Gloucestershire will: 

1. Draw from existing and developing local plans and plan development processes 
to provide an agreed joined up picture of growth within Gloucestershire. 

2. Include the broad aspirations of partners for the promotion of growth within 
Gloucestershire. 

3. Provide an agreed approach between all agencies to allow cooperation in delivery 
of plans and infrastructure. 

4. Improve strategic planning coordination, cooperation and communication to avoid 
potential conflict between plans and partners ensuring Gloucestershire can speak 
with ‘one voice’, which is so important for Government dialogue and associated 
funding bids. 

4.0 SCG DEVELOPMENT PROCESS 

4.1 The Leaders Board has concluded that, given the importance of this partnership work, all 
the individual Local Authorities and GFirst LEP should be asked to approve the principles 
of this planning partnership work as set out in this report at the outset of the project.  This 
report therefore is being presented to all Gloucestershire authorities and GFirst LEP for 
consideration within the meeting cycles for February and March 2019. 

4.2 This project is in its earliest stages; therefore, this report concerns the principles of this 
project only and much further detail will need to be developed as the project progresses.  
As work on this project progresses Members will be updated.  Further reports will be 
presented to individual local authorities and GFirst LEP as further decisions are required. 
Final adoption of the SCG for Gloucestershire will need to be agreed by each constituent 
authority. 

5.0 CONSULTATION  

5.1 The SCG will be subject to a level of consultation which will need to be in accordance 
with the Statements of Community Involvement of each constituent local authority.  

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

6.1 Joint Core Strategy. 

Tewkesbury Borough Plan. 

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

7.1 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Localism Act 2011. 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

National Planning Practice Guidance. 

77



 

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

8.1 Officer time will be required to support the preparation of the SCG as part of a regular 
programme of work. 

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

9.1 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Planning decisions are required to be made in accordance with an adopted 
Development Plan. The Plan-led approach to development will help ensure that new 
development is supported by the necessary facilities and infrastructure to make it 
sustainable in the long term. 

10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

10.1 None as a direct result of this report.  An Equalities Impact Assessment will be 
undertaken as part of the Sustainability Appraisal process for individual statutory 
planning documents.   

11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

11.1 None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer:  John Baker Strategic Planning Coordinator. 

Appendices:  1 – Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Governance Structure. 

 

78



GFirst LEP

Gloucestershire

Economic Growth

Joint Committee 

(GEGJC)

Gloucestershire

Economic Growth

Joint Committee 

(GEGJC) / Senior Officers

Group (SOG)

Chief Executives /

Head of Paid Service Group

(HOPS)

Leadership

Gloucestershire

Strategic Planning 

Coordinator

Local Planning

Authorities
Gloucestershire County

Council

Gloucestershire

Strategic Planning

Leader’s Board

District Planning Officers

Teams

Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Governance

Strategic Planning

Coordination Group

79



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Executive Committee 

Date of Meeting: 6 March 2019 

Subject:  Borough Growth Reserve 

Report of: Heads of Finance and Asset Management and 
Development Services  

Corporate Lead: Deputy Chief Executive  

Lead Member: Lead Members for Finance and Asset Management and 
Built Environment 

Number of Appendices: None 

 

Executive Summary: 

Following the adoption of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) in December 2017, which contained 
a number of Strategic Allocations, the focus now has to turn to delivery of these allocations 
and to bring forward the necessary growth in homes and jobs to deliver the growth strategy 
up to 2031 and beyond. 

The strategic allocations within the JCS are now beginning to come forward for 
development. A number of planning approvals have been secured and are beginning to 
deliver the anticipated infrastructure. It is nevertheless apparent that, to support the growth 
in the JCS, intervention is required from the Council to help to facilitate and accelerate this 
development in line with the trajectory. 

Recommendation: 

Executive Committee is asked to APPROVE: 

I. the allocation of £500,000 to form a new Borough Growth reserve subject to 
confirmation of windfall receipts from the 100% Business Rates Retention 
Pilot. 

II. the reallocation of the £100,000 A40 Innsworth Gateway reserve to the Borough 
Growth reserve subject to successful completion of the required business case 
and reimbursement of expenditure from grant funding. 

III. any expenditure in excess of £50,000 or of abnormal risk is undertaken by the 
Chief Executive in consultation with the relevant Member Panel. 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To ensure that the Strategic Allocations and growth in housing and jobs set out in the JCS 
are delivering the growth anticipated in the JCS to bring about the benefits in community and 
infrastructure development, and to ensure that the Council can where necessary act to 
accelerate their progression if required. 

Resource Implications: 

Set out in this report. 

80

Agenda Item 11



Legal Implications: 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2018) sets out at Paragraph 8 that achieving 
sustainable development includes an economic objective to help build a strong, responsive 
and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the 
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; 
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure. Further, at Paragraph 72, 
it provides that the supply of large numbers of new homes can often be best achieved 
through planning for large scale development, such as new settlements or significant 
extensions to existing villages and towns, provided they are well located and designed, and 
supported by the necessary infrastructure and facilities. 

Relevant grants conditions and associated risks will need to be carefully assessed when 
allocating funds from the new Borough Growth and allocations should not be made unless 
formal grant agreements are in place if the Council requires reimbursement from the grant.   

Risk Management Implications: 

The creation of a fund to allow the Council to help unlock development or accelerate 
development on the Strategic Allocations and growth as set out in the Joint Core Strategy 
involves committing resources.  Some of these resources will be to ensure that the relevant 
evidence is available to bring sites forward and thus will be spent on procuring 
advice/evidence however some of the fund will be able to be claimed back as part of project 
management upfront costs and can be returned to the ‘pot’ once funds are able to be drawn 
down from external sources – e.g. bids.  

Performance Management Follow-up: 

Performance reports are presented to Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis and include details of the progress on each of the Strategic Allocations. The 
monitoring of the spend will be presented to Members at appropriate periods.   

Environmental Implications:  

None directly from this report. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 Following the adoption of the Joint Core Strategy in December 2017 which contained a 
number of Strategic Allocations the focus now has to turn to delivery of these 
Allocations and the necessary growth in homes and jobs to deliver the growth strategy 
up to 2031 and beyond. 

1.2 As the strategic allocations within the JCS come forward for development through 
securing planning approvals and the delivery of the anticipated infrastructure, it is 
apparent that to support the growth strategy, assistance and intervention is required 
from the Council to help to facilitate and accelerate this development. 

  

81



1.3 The JCS contains seven Strategic Allocations:  

A1 : Twigworth & Innsworth. 

A2 : South Churchdown. 

A3 : North Brockworth. 

A4 : North West Cheltenham.  

A5 : Ashchurch. 

A6 : Winneycroft. 

A7 : West Cheltenham. 

1.4 All of these Strategic Allocations, apart from A6 Winneycroft, are either entirely or 
partially within Tewkesbury Borough. A number of these Strategic Allocations are now 
coming forward and beginning to deliver growth:   

 The A1 Twigworth & Innsworth Strategic Allocation has outline planning 
permissions in place with the first reserved matters application submitted.   

 A2 South Churchdown has the benefit of outline planning permission for a part 
of the site.   

 A3 North Brockworth has outline planning permission and the reserved matters 
applications are now being submitted.  

 A4 North West Cheltenham has a live Planning Application lodged with both 
Cheltenham Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council but is yet to be 
determined largely due to the issues surrounding highway infrastructure.   

 A5 Ashchurch Strategic Allocation is for 14 Hectares of Employment Land 
which has planning permission and is part of the broader area encompassed in 
the Ashchurch Concept Masterplan approved by the Council for consultation in 
Autumn 2018.  

 A6 Winneycroft is within Gloucester City and has the benefit of planning 
permission on part of the site.   

 A7 West Cheltenham has developer interest and is the subject of a bid for 
Garden Community status. As yet, however, there remains a number of 
impediments to the creation of new homes and jobs, largely due to 
requirements for infrastructure.  

 There is also a site at Mitton which is based in Wychavon District but seeks to 
meet Tewkesbury’s housing needs.  

2.0 BOROUGH GROWTH RESERVE 

2.1 It is clear that delivering development and growth of the scale set out in the JCS 
requires significant infrastructure. Officers consider that, to bring this forward at a pace 
to deliver the necessary benefits associated with this growth, will require an element of 
funding and intervention by the Council. This report therefore is proposing a fund of 
£600,000 be made available to bring about necessary work to support the delivery of 
this growth. It is anticipated that this, at least in part, will be in the form of a revolving 
fund which could be returned to the ‘pot’ once funds are able to be drawn down from 
external sources – e.g. bids.  

  

82



2.2 The A40 Innsworth Gateway Project is an example of where this was required.  This 
project was based upon the delivery of the Innsworth Strategic Allocation.  An award of 
£4.53million was made by the LEP from the Growth Fund.  However, to access funding 
a detailed business case was required to ensure that the appropriate case and 
evidence could be set out to release the funding.  A report was taken to Executive 
Committee in January 2018 requesting that a fund of £100,000 was sought from 
reserves to support the project and unlock the £4.53 million.  Since then, the business 
case work has been commissioned and is scheduled for completion to meet the LEP 
board meeting and subsequent approval in summer 2019 allowing the initial upfront 
resource of £100,000 to be delivered back to this Council.  

2.3 Further work is anticipated to be required in the area of Ashchurch to deliver the 
growth opportunity of the wider concept masterplan (note: this area is also subject to a 
bid for Garden Community status) and includes option assessment of the traffic issues 
in the area (£50,000) including further steps in the delivery of the rail strategy for 
Ashchurch station (£40,000) and marketing material to support a garden community 
solutions (£10,000) and a strategic level flood assessment of the area (£30,000). 

2.4  Again, similar to these above examples, the Strategic Allocations at North West and 
West Cheltenham require significant investment in infrastructure. Both allocations can 
be seen to have substantial growth opportunity (albeit to meet Cheltenham’s need but 
a significant proportion of the allocations and in the case of West Cheltenham the 
wider opportunity sit within Tewkesbury Borough). The work in relation to the all-ways 
junction improvement at Junction 10 of the M5 is being forward funded by the County 
Council however the wider opportunity of the safeguarded land at West Cheltenham 
requires a coordinated and strategic approach to place making which will require 
further evidence gathering and work (estimated £100,000) to secure development 
coming forward in an appropriate manner.   

2.5 The concept of at least part of this fund is as a revolving fund and therefore on receipt 
of the necessary grant, any relevant incurred costs would be paid back to the pot for 
reuse on other projects. However, an element of the fund would be spent on evidence 
or strategic planning work/master-planning that would not always have the opportunity 
to be paid back to the pot.  The Council would be undertaking that element of the work 
for the wider benefit of the growth agenda and would benefit from the receipt of Council 
Tax for the domestic properties once occupied.  There is also a risk that anticipated 
funding that could be repaid to the pot would not be forthcoming and thus not be able 
to be paid back to the pot and thus the Council would need to undertake this at risk, 
albeit benefiting from the growth through Council Tax or Non-Domestic Rates. The 
delivery of the strategic allocations over the next decade will have a significant impact 
on the Council’s underlying financial position. In terms of council tax, it is estimated that 
annual amount collected from council tax on these sites alone could be worth around 
£1.5m per annum whilst the total amount that could be derived from New Homes 
Bonus, assuming the scheme continues in its current form, would be in excess of 
£40million. The strategic allocations also allow for a significant amount of employment 
land to be delivered over the plan period which will provide for considerable levels of 
business rates retention on a local basis. 

  

83



2.6 Alongside income in relation to Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates, the growth 
strategy has clear and significant benefits in terms of social, economic and 
environmental benefits bringing homes and jobs along with increased prosperity and 
wealth creation.  The creation of employment land provision to facilitate business 
growth and new business investment in our borough helps to improve business 
productivity and boost opportunities for sustainable economic success.  The added 
benefit to the wider economy with the creation of significant numbers of new jobs is 
clear.   Alongside added prosperity comes added spend in the Borough with a direct 
and tangible benefit to wider businesses. The growth strategy also seeks to provide 
new housing across all tenures and affordability to meet the needs of the Borough’s 
population and support business growth through provision of housing for those working 
in the businesses. Helping to bringing these sites forward in an accelerated fashion, 
through the creation of this fund allows the Borough along with its residents and 
business to benefit at the earliest opportunity.  

3.0 FUNDING 

3.1 In order to fund these ongoing requirements, it is recommended that through the year 
end process a new Borough Growth reserve is established.  

3.2 As highlighted earlier in the report, Executive Committee has already set aside a 
£100,000 reserve for the development of the business case required to unlock funding 
for the A40 Innsworth Gateway project. It is suggested that, upon successful recovery 
of the expenditure incurred in delivering the business case to the LEP, the money is 
reinvested within a newly formed Borough Growth reserve. This general principle of 
reimbursing the Borough Growth reserve once grant funding is received will apply to all 
other applicable projects such as the Ashchurch bridge project should this require 
forward funding. 

3.3 In addition to this, it is recommended that a further sum of £500,000 is placed into the 
Borough Growth reserve funded from the expected windfall receipts associated with 
the 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot in 2018/19. A condition of being awarded 
Pilot status was that any windfall receipt should be used to promote financial stability 
and sustainability and, in particular, some of the retained income should be invested to 
encourage further growth across the area. The proposed use of windfall monies to 
support the delivery of our strategic allocations and growth in homes and jobs would 
meet that definition. 

3.4 The performance of the Pilot to date has been encouraging with quarter 2 figures 
suggesting a full year windfall to Tewkesbury of circa £700,000. Quarter 3 figures are 
currently being collated and it is expected that they will confirm this position, although 
volatility within the business rates system cannot be ruled out. The final position of the 
Pilot will be confirmed in May and this will allow the formal creation of a reserve as part 
of the Full Year Outturn report. This report therefore recommends the allocation of 
£500,000 once the windfall receipt is confirmed. 

3.5 By establishing this reserve, and noting its intended use, the Council is able to take a 
pro-active approach to ensure the delivery of the strategic allocations and the 
residential and business growth in the JCS. The pro-active approach will accelerate 
delivery and therefore support the Council’s financial stability by providing additional 
council tax, business rates and new homes bonus whilst the scheme is active. 

  

84



3.6 In terms of committing to expenditure from this reserve, this would normally fall solely 
within the delegated power of officers once the reserve had been established. 
However, with this particular reserve, it is felt appropriate to establish further 
governance arrangements for expenditure that is deemed large and/or of abnormal 
level of risk. It is therefore recommended that any item of expenditure in excess of 
£50,000 or, in the opinion of the Tewkesbury JCS Programme Board, if it carries 
heightened risk will be referred to the relevant Member’s panel for discussion and 
agreement. Any expenditure not meeting this threshold or definition will be taken 
forward by the responsible officer after consultation with the Tewkesbury JCS 
Programme Board.  

4.0 CONSULTATION  

4.1 Consultation on the Joint Core Strategy itself has been undertaken widely and in line 
with statutory regulations. 

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

5.1 Other options considered are to wait for alternative sources of funding to deliver some 
of the infrastructure/requirements; however, it is clear that this is not practical and nor 
can it ensure the delivery of the sites and growth in the JCS. It would also mean that 
sites would not be delivered at pace and this could lead to the failure to realise the 
opportunity of the growth potential.   

6.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

6.1 Joint Core Strategy adopted December 2017. 

7.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

7.1  National Planning Policy Framework 2018. 

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

8.1 None.  

9.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

9.1 None directly. 

10.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

10.1 None directly. 

11.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

11.1 Approval of Joint Core Strategy December 2017. 

 

Background Papers:  None. 

Contact Officer:   Heads of Finance & Asset Management and Development    
  Services.  

  Tel:  01684 272005/2095  

Appendices:  None.    

85


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Executive Committee Forward Plan
	7 Council Plan Year 4 (2016-20)
	New Council Plan 2019

	8 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy
	Discretionary Rate Relief Policy

	9 Grass Cutting Improvement Plan
	Appendix A - Grass Cutting WG Report
	Grass cutting scrutiny review
	Appendix 2 Grass cutting Action Plan - Jan19
	Appendix 3 Grass Cutting Standards


	10 Development of a Strategic Planning Framework for Gloucestershire County to 2050 and Beyond
	Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Governance Chart final Aug 2018 - Appendix

	11 Borough Growth Reserve



